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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT of
1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT of 1934

Commission File No. 1-11859

PEGASYSTEMS INC.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its chaet)

Massachusetts
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)
(IRS Employer Identification No. 04-2787865)

One Rogers Stree
Cambridge, MA 021421209
(Address of principal executive offices (zip code)

(617) 374-9600

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registere
Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share NASDAQ Global Select Market
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tiie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a vkelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405e06#turities Act of 1933.  Yes
O No

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is notuiegg to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Exchange
Act. Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant gF)filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mo(ah$or such shorter period that the Registrarg veguired to file such reports) and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementste past 90 days. Ye&l No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lnasmtted electronically and posted on its corpovalb site, if any, every Interacti
Data File required to be submitted and posted auntsio Rule 405 of RegulationSduring the preceding 12 months (or for such shrquerioc
that the registrant was required to submit and pash files). YeskX No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquillets pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of the Registrant’s knowdediy definitive proxy or information statementsanporated by reference in Part Ill of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantl&sge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See the definitions of “largeederated filer”, “accelerated filer”, and “smalleporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act. (Check one):
Large accelerated fileiix] Accelerated filer

O Nor-accelerated filer I Smaller reporting company
(Do not check if a smaller reporting compa

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantskedl company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exde Act). Yes[d No

The aggregate market value of the Registrant’s comstock held by non-affiliates of the Registraasdd on the closing price (as
reported by NASDAQ) of such common stock on thétasiness day of the Registrant’s most recentiypgieted second fiscal quarter (June
30, 2012) was approximately $569 million.

There were 37,939,651 shares of the Registrantsraan stock, $0.01 par value per share, outstaratirigebruary 1, 2013.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant’s definitive proxy statnt related to its 2013 annual meeting of stoakérsl to be filed subsequently are

incorporated by reference into Part Il of thisogp
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Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains or incaogtes forward-looking statements within the meamihgection 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and section 21E of the SéearExchange Act of 1934. These forward-lookiteements are based on current
expectations, estimates, forecasts and projecéibast the industry and markets in which we opesattmanagement’s beliefs and
assumptions. In addition, other written or oratestaents that constitute forward-looking statememay be made by us or on our behalf. Word:
such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,btlieve,” “could,” “estimate,” “may,” “target,” “mject,” or variations of such words and
similar expressions are intended to identify suwofwérd-looking statements. These statements arguastntees of future performance and
involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumgtitiat are difficult to predict. We have identifiegrtain risk factors included in Item 1A of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K that we believeldaause our actual results to differ materialnfrthe forward-looking statements we

make. We do not intend to update publicly any fooMaoking statements, whether as a result of néarination, future events or otherwise.

ITEM 1. Business

Pegasystems Inc. was incorporated in Massachusét®83. Our stock is traded on the NASDAQ GlobeleSt Market under the
symbol PEGA. Our Website address is www.pega.comawé not including the information contained on\ebsite as part of, or
incorporating it by reference into, this Annual Repn Form 10-K. Unless the context otherwise nexg references in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to “the Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” ref to Pegasystems Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Our business

We develop, market, and license software. We alsvige implementation, consulting, training, andhieical support services to help
our customers maximize the business value theyrofstan the use of our software.

Our PegaRULES Process Commaritler (“PRPC”) softwanédes a unified platform that enables our custene build enterprise
applications in a fraction of the time it would ¢éaksing the disjointed architectures offered byemmpetitors. This allows organizations to
build, deploy, and change enterprise applicati@ssiyand quickly. It also eliminates the time axgense required to create lengthy policy
manuals and system specifications by unifying bessrrules with business processes in the softwar@aatomating the creation of system
documentation. Our software delivers multi-chanomss silo capabilities that bridge front and baffice, and is often used to rejuvenate
legacy technology.

Our customers may deploy their PRPC applicationgremise or through an Internet-based infrastrectusing our Pega Cloud
service offerings.

PRPC is complemented by software solutions thatefier to as frameworks. These frameworks providpgse or industry-specific
functionality that allows our customers to quickiyplement and easily customize our software tothair unique requirement.

The integrated capabilities of PRPC and our framrksimake us the leader in the Business Processdéarent (“BPM”) software
market as well as a leader in Customer Relationglsipagement (“CRM”), Dynamic Case Management, aadiglon Management software
markets.

We focus our sales efforts on target accounts, lwaire large companies or divisions within comparaes typically leaders in their
industry. Our strategy is to sell a series of |sEnthat are focused on specific purposes or afegeerations, rather than to sell a large
enterprise license. We invest resources in comgu#iervices, customer support, and customer arndgranablement to help our customers
achieve success.
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Our partners

We maintain alliances with global systems integimtnd technology consulting firms that also prewidnsulting services to our
customers. Strategic partnerships with technolagsalting firms and systems integrators are impotia our sales efforts because they
influence buying decisions, help us to identifyesabpportunities, and complement our software thidir domain expertise and services
capabilities. These partners may deliver stratbg&iness planning, consulting, project managenaet,implementation services to our
customers. Currently, our partners include welpeeted, major firms such as Accenture Ltd., CapgeBA, Cognizant Technology Solutions
Inc., Infosys Technologies Limited, Mahindra Satydrata Consultancy Services Limited, Pricewaterb@aopers LLP, Virtusa Corporation,
and Wipro Ltd.

Our products

Our primary software solutions are as follows:

PegaRULES Process Command

PRPC provides a unified platform that enables ogtamers to build enterprise applications in atfoacof the time it would take usii
our competitors’ products. Key capabilities, whinblude the direct capture of business objectimasomating programming, reporting,
predictive analytics and decisioning, dynamic acas@magement, mobile device access, dynamically getkuser interface, process
automation, business rules, social media technetogind automating work, are all part of our integgtarchitecture. This allows organizations
to build, deploy, and change enterprise applicatieasily and quickly. It also eliminates the tinmel @xpense required to create lengthy policy
manuals and system specifications by unifying essrrules with business processes in the softwalaatomating the creation of system
documentation. Our software is standards-based¢amdeverage existing technology investments tateraew business applications that cros:
technology silos.

Solution Frameworks

We also offer purpose or industspecific solution frameworks built on the capaldbtof our PRPC software. These frameworks a
organizations to quickly implement new customeiifg@ractices and processes, bring new offeringsddket, and provide customized or
specialized processing to meet the needs of diffenestomers, departments, geographies or regylegquirements.

Pega CRM

Pega CRM software offers a process-driven, custamaetric business solution to maximize the lifetinadue of customers and reduce
the operating cost associated with serving custenidre capabilities within Pega CRM address satesketing and service needs and
automate sales processes, customer service intgrmeind marketing automation, and apply advanoaty/ics to predict and adapt customer
behavior to optimize the customer experience aty d@sure customer success.

Pega Decision Managemel

Our decision management products and capabiliteeg@signed to manage business processes so tibasaiptimize the process
outcomes based on business objectives. Pega NextAB&on Marketing supports cross-channel decisiaking for offer management, risk,
and other marketing and customer management regeirs. Our Pega frameworks for cross-sell/up-sstiéntion, and collections help
businesses build and deploy decision making salatquickly, while predictive and adaptive analyScpport creation and improvement of
decision models for outstanding operational perforoe.
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Pega Clouc®

Pega Cloud is Pegasystems’ service offering thatvalcustomers to create and/or deploy Pega apiplisausing an Internet-based
infrastructure. This offering enables our custontensapidly build, test, and deploy their applioats in a secure cloud environment, while
minimizing their infrastructure and hardware costs.

Our services and support

We offer services and support through our Pegauttimg group, customer support group, and our ingirservices group. We also
utilize third party contractors to assist us inyiding services.

Pega consulting

Our Pega consulting group provides guidance andeimgntation services to our clients and partnersaw to best apply our
technology and develop strong implementation eigert

Customer support

Our customer support group is responsible for sapgamur software deployed at customer sites. Supgervices include automated
problem tracking, prioritization and escalationg®dures, periodic preventive maintenance, docurtientapdates, and new software releases

Training services

The success of our sales strategy for multipleWlbn sales to target customers depends on otityabiltrain a larger number of
partners and customers to implement our technolgyoffer training for our staff, customers, andtpers. Training is offered at our regional
training facilities in Cambridge, Massachusettsjfided, New Hampshire, Reading, England, Hyderabatla, Sydney, Australia, at third pa
facilities in numerous other locations, and at comr sites. In 2012, we began offering trainingranthrough Pega Academy, which offers an
alternative way to learn our software quickly amagily. We expect that the online training will helgpand the number of trained experts at a
faster pace. Our courses are designed to meepéedfis requirements of process architects, systeshitects, and system administrators.

Our markets and representative customers

Our target customers are large, induségding organizations faced with managing changésténsive, complex business processt
order to increase business agility, drive growtfipriove productivity, retain customers, and helpuemsompliance. Our customers have
typically been large companies in the financial/sms, healthcare, insurance, government, and conwamions markets. We are expanding ou
customer base to a broader range of companieswitbse markets as well as to additional industsesh as manufacturing, energy, travel
entertainment.
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Financial services

Financial services organizations require softwarnenprove the quality, accuracy, and efficiencyco$tomer interactions and
transactions processing. Pegasystems’ customeegg@nd exceptions management products allow castdmbe responsive to changing
business requirements. Representative financialcssr customers of ours include: American Express@any, Bank Asya, BB&T
Corporation, BBVA Bancomer S.A., BNP Paribas, Camadmperial Bank of Commerce, Charles Schwab Qatan, Citigroup Inc.,
Deutsche Bank AG, HSBC Holdings Plc, ING Bank, Jer§ian Chase, Lloyds Banking Group, MasterCard Wadd, National Australia
Bank Limited, Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporationited (OCBC Group), RBC Financial Group, and TamBominion Bank.

Healthcare

Healthcare organizations seek products that integhir front and back office initiatives and hdlive customer service, efficiency,
and productivity. Representative healthcare custsmiours include: Aetna Inc., Alere, Inc., mdnan 60 percent of the members of the Blue
Cross Blue Shield network, Highmark, Kaiser PermmémeMedical Mutual of Ohio, Tenet Healthcare Cogpion, United Healthcare Services,
Inc., and ViPS/General Dynamics.

Insurance

Insurance companies, whether competing globallyationally for customers and channels, need soéwmautomate the key activit
of policy rating, quoting, customization, undenivi, and servicing as well as products that improv&omer service and the overall customel
experience. Representative insurance industry meswof ours include: CARDIF, Chartis, Farmers tasge Group of Companies, Folksam,
ING Insurance, Nationwide Mutual Insurance Compdsw York Life Insurance Company, Prudential Inswwe Wesfarmers, and Zurich
North America.

Communications and Media

Communications and media organizations need toeaddrigh levels of customer churn, growing presguiecrease revenue and an
ability to respond quickly to changing market cdiwfis. Pega’s unique ability to put the power afamation into the hands of the business
enables organizations to reshape the way theyaictt@rith customers, streamline operations and brag services and products to market.
Representative communications and media custonfiensrs include: Cox Communications, Deutsche Telek®2, Orange, Vodafone, and
Warner Bros.

Government

Government agencies need to modernize legacy systathprocesses to meet the growing demands fooua@ constituent service,
lower costs and greater levels of transparencyafegems offers a proven, economical and highcéffe solution that delivers advanced
capabilities to streamline application developneerd delivery. Representative public sector cliamtiude: California Franchise Tax Board
(FTB), Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Servi&@®l§), CSC, the FDIC, and the State of Texas.

Other industries

We offer solutions to a broad range of companiesiadustries. For example, we sell our BPM techggltw customers in energy, life
sciences, manufacturing, and travel services. @este include: Baxter International Inc., Bristol &g Squibb, ConEdison, Carnival Cruise
Lines, Expedia, Inc., GE Energy, Jabil, Novartietnational AG, and Heathrow Airport Holdings Liemut

6
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Competition

We compete in the BPM, Case Management, CRM, aniBa Management software markets. These marketstensely

competitive, rapidly changing, and highly fragmehtas current competitors expand their productrioffis and new companies enter the
market. Competitors vary in size and in the scopkl@eadth of the products and services offeredeé@unter competition from:

BPM vendors including Service-Oriented Architect(i®OA”") middleware vendors IBM, Oracle Corporatji@oftware AG, and
Tibco Software Inc., and other BPM vendors sucA@sian Corporation

Case Management vendors such as the Documentusiodivif EMC Corporation, the FileNet division ofNBs Information
Management Group, and the BPM/Case Managementativi$ OpenText (following its acquisition of Metasm and Global 360

CRM application vendors such as Salesforce.comSi#leel division of Oracle, and the Microsoft DynesnCRM division of
Microsoft;

Decision Management vendors including Business fhggine vendors such as the ILOG and SPSS digisibiBM, and the
Blaze division of FICO, and vendors of solutionattleverage predictive analytics in managing custoralationships including the
Unica Division of IBM;

Companies that provide application specific sofeviar the financial services, healthcare, insuraaraother specific markets such
as Guidewire Software, Inc., the Detica NetReveaaidibn of BAE, SmartStream Technologies Ltd., San@; SAP, and The
TriZetto Group, Inc.; an

Current customers’ information technology departtaewhich may seek to modify their existing systemsdevelop their own
proprietary system:

We have been most successful competing for customiense businesses are characterized by a highedefichange, complexity,

and regulation. We believe that the principal cotitipe factors within our market include:

Product adaptability, scalability, functionalityydaperformance

Proven success in delivering ¢-savings and efficiency improvemen
Eas+of-use for developers, business units, anc-users;

Timely development and introduction of new produwisl product enhancemer
Establishment of a significant base of referencgauers

Ability to integrate with other products and techgies;

Customer service and suppc

Product price

Vendor reputation; an

Relationships with systems integratc
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We believe we compete favorably with our competiton the basis of these competitive factors asipified Build for Chang®
technology allows both client business and IT stagfng a single, browser-based user interfackuild enterprise applications in a fraction of
the time it would take with the types of disjointathitectures and tools offered by our competitdfs believe we also compete favorably due
to our expertise in our target industries and ongistanding customer relationships. We believe we @aieless favorably on the basis of s
of these factors with respect to our larger contgesti many of which have greater sales, marketmfimancial resources, more extensive
geographical presence and greater name recogttidornwe do. In addition, we may be at a disadvanteith respect to our ability to provide
expertise outside our target industries. See “Resbtors — The market for our offerings is intensahy increasingly competitive, rapidly
changing and highly fragmented” in Item 1A of thisnual Report on Form 10-K.

Sales and marketing

We market our software and services primarily tgfoa direct sales force. Strategic partnershipls @onsultants and systems
integrators are important to our sales efforts bseahey influence buying decisions, help us tatifiesales opportunities, and complement
software with their domain expertise and professi@ervices capabilities.

To support our sales efforts, we conduct a broadeaf marketing programs, including customer awldi$try targeted solution
campaigns, trade shows, including our PegaWORLD emaference, solution seminars and Webinars, tindasalyst and press relations, W
and digital marketing, community development, slagiadia, and other direct and indirect marketirfgré$. Our consulting staff, business
partners, and other third parties also conduct g separate campaigns that generate sales leads.

Sales by geography

In 2012, 2011, and 2010, sales to customers basgsitle of the United States of America (“U.S.”) iegented approximately 46%,
48%, and 41%, respectively, of our total revenue.dfrently operate in one operating segment —ri#ssi Process Solutions. We derive
substantially all of our operating revenue from ¢laée and support of one group of similar prodaas services. Substantially all of our assets
are located within the U.S. See Note 17 “Geograpifarmation and Major Customers” included in thaeas to the accompanying audited
consolidated financial statements for further deSge “Risk Factors — We face risks from operatiand customers based outside of the U.S
in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Research and development

Our development organization is responsible fodpob architecture, core technology developmentjycbtesting, and quality
assurance. Our product development priority isotctioue expanding the capabilities of our integrégéahnology. We intend to maintain and
extend the support of our existing solution framegkgpand we may choose to invest in additional &aarks which incorporate the latest
business innovations. We also intend to maintathextend the support of popular hardware platfowpsrating systems, databases, and
connectivity options to facilitate easy and rapipldyment in diverse information technology infrastures. Our goal with all of our products
is to enhance product capabilities, ease of imph¢ati®n, long-term flexibility, and the ability forovide improved customer service.

During 2012, 2011, and 2010, research and developexpenses were approximately $76.7 million, $68ilBon, and $55.2 million,
respectively. We expect that we will continue toncoit significant resources to our product researmth development in the future to maintain
our leadership position.
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Employees

As of January 31, 2013, we had 2,160 employeesdwadk, of which 1,129 were based in the U.S., 3étevbased in Europe, 565
were based in India, 34 were based in Australiay@& based in Canada and 29 were based in Asiao@iliheadcount consists of 651
consulting and customer support employees, 518 salé marketing employees, 740 research and deweltEmployees, and 252
administrative employees.

Backlog of license, maintenance, and professionaryices

As of December 31, 2012, we had software licensént@nance, and professional services agreemetitsustomers expected to
result in approximately $438 million of future rexes, of which we expect approximately $225.7 millio be recognized in 2013. As of
December 31, 2011, we had backlog of software §eemaintenance, and professional services agregméh customers of approximately
$359.8 million. Under some of these agreementaynwst fulfill certain conditions prior to recognigimevenue, and there can be no assurance
when, if ever, we will be able to satisfy all sumnditions in each instance. Business conditiongdcohange and, therefore, backlog may not
be a reliable indicator of future financial perf@nte.

Available Information

We make available free of charge through our Wehsitw.pegasystems.coour Annual Reports on Form ¥-Quarterly Reports ¢
Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amemts to these reports, as soon as reasonabljcplde after we electronically file
such material with, or furnish such material tes 8ecurities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). TRE &aintains a Website that contains
reports, proxy, and information statements andrdtifermation regarding issuers that file electaatly with the SEC at www.sec.gowWe
make available on our Website reports filed by executive officers and Directors on Forms 3, 4, amegarding their ownership of our
securities. Our Code of Conduct, and any amendntersr Code of Conduct, is also available on o@bdite.

9
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following important factors could cause oumatbusiness and financial results to differ matrifrom those contained in
forward-looking statements made in this Annual Repo Form 10-K or elsewhere by management frone tisntime.

Factors relating to our financial results

The number of our license arrangements has beenreasing, and we may not be able to sustain thisvgtto unless we and our
partners can provide sufficient high quality condirlg services, training, and maintenance resourdesenable our customers to reali:
significant business value from our softwarOur customers typically request consulting servares training to assist them in implementing
our products. Our customers also purchase maintenamour products in almost all cases. As a reanlincrease in the number of license
arrangements is likely to increase demand for dtinguservices, training, and maintenance relatingur products. Given that the number of
our license arrangements has been increasing, leegd to provide our customers with more consglervices, training, and maintenanc
enable our customers to realize significant busivatue from our software. We have been increagieghbling our partners and customers
through training to create an expanded univergeeople that are skilled in the implementation of products. However, if we and our partr
are unable to provide sufficient high quality cdtisg services, training, or maintenance resoutoesr customers, our customers may not
realize sufficient business value from our produetgistify follow-on sales, which could impact duture financial performance. In addition,
the growth required to meet the increased demanaiuioconsulting services could strain our abil@ydeliver our services engagements at
desired levels of profitability, thereby impactiagr overall profitability and financial results.

We frequently enter into a series of licenses thag¢ focused on a specific purpose or area of opinas, rather than selling a large
enterprise license. If we are not successful in aibing follow-on business from these customers, dimancial performance could be
adversely affectedVe frequently enter into a series of licenses withnew customers that are focused on a specifjpoge or area of
operations, rather than selling a large enterpidsase. Once a customer has realized the valoara$oftware, we work with the customer to
identify opportunities for follow-on sales. Howeyare may not be successful in demonstrating thiseveo some customers, for reasons
relating to the performance of our products, thalityuof the services and support we provide far puoducts, or external reasons. For these
customers, we may not obtain follow-on sales orfttlew-on sales may be delayed, and our licengemae could be limited. This could lower
the total value of all transactions and advers#bcaour financial performance.

Our consulting services revenue is dependent tagamificant extent on closing new license transaati® with customersWe derive a
substantial portion of our consulting services nexefrom implementation of new software licensethwur customers, both from
implementations that are led by our consulting ises/staff and from implementations where we previdnsulting to our partners and
customers to support their implementations. Acaaly;, it is imperative that we close more licensmsactions with our customers if we are tc
maintain or grow our services revenue.

If we are unable to maintain vendor specific objaeat evidence (“VSOE”") of fair value of our professnal services arrangements,
we may be required to delay the recognition of atmm of our revenue to future periodsWe have established VSOE of fair value of our
professional services in North America, Austradiagd Europe, based on the price charged when tkedees are sold separately. The
weakened economy and significant competition within industry have created pricing pressure ongssibnal services provided by
technology companies. If we elect to discount gofgssional services pricing or otherwise introduagability in our professional services
arrangements to attract or retain customers, thitddead to an insufficient number of consistemtliced professional services arrangements
for us to maintain VSOE. If we do not have VSOHaif value of our professional services, we maydpiired to recognize all revenue for
these professional services arrangements, incluhggelated license, maintenance, and other ssvavenue if the professional services are
bundled in an arrangement, ratably over the loo§é#ne software maintenance period or the servigg.

10
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The timing of our license revenue is difficult toredict accurately, which may cause our quarterlyeypting results to vary
considerably A change in the number or size of high value lieemsangements, or a change in the mix betweerepeigicenses, term
licenses, and Pega Cloud subscriptions can causewenues to fluctuate materially from quartegt@rter. Our decision to enter into term
licenses and Pega Cloud subscriptions that retjuireevenue to be recognized over the license neagnadversely affect our profitability in
any period due to sales commissions being paidetifne of signing and the corresponding revenimgh@cognized over time. We budget for
our selling and marketing, product development, @thér expenses based on anticipated future revéfrthe timing or amount of revenue fe
to meet our expectations in any given quarter fimancial performance is likely to be adverselyeateéd because only small portions of
expenses vary with revenue. As a result, periodetdod comparisons of our operating results arenroessarily meaningful and should not be
relied upon to predict future performance.

Our financial results may be adversely affectednié are required to change certain estimates, judgiseand positions relative to
our income taxesln the ordinary course of conducting a global besfenterprise, there are many transactions acdl&i#bns undertaken
whose ultimate tax outcome cannot be certain. Safrtieese uncertainties arise as a consequencesitiogps we have taken regarding valua
of deferred tax assets, transfer pricing for tratisas with our subsidiaries, and potential chajksto nexus and tax credit estimates. We
estimate our exposure to unfavorable outcomesegttatthese uncertainties and estimate the pratyabfilsuch outcomes. Future realization of
our deferred tax assets ultimately depends onxiséeace of sufficient taxable income within theagable carryback or carryforward periods.
We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to an amount we believe is morly likan not to be realized. If our taxable
income is not consistent with our expectationsherttiming of income is not within the applicablergéorward period, we may be required to
establish a valuation allowance on all or a portbthese deferred tax assets. Changes in ourti@iualowance impact income tax expense ir
the period of adjustment. Although we believe atimeates are reasonable, no assurance can bethatehe final tax outcome of these mat
or our current estimates regarding these mattdtsatibe different from what is reflected in oustorical income tax provisions, returns, and
accruals. Such differences, or changes in estimalatng to potential differences, could have darial impact, unfavorable or favorable, on
our income tax provisions, require us to changeadkerded value of deferred tax assets, and adyefect our financial results.

We are investing heavily in sales and marketing asupport in anticipation of a continued increase litense arrangements, and \
may experience decreased profitability or lossesdf are unsuccessful in increasing the value of disense arrangements in the futuréVe
have been increasing our investment in sales amkletirag to meet increasing demand for our softvgréiring additional sales and marketing
personnel. We anticipate that we will need to ptevour customers with more maintenance supportesudt of this increase in demand, and
have been hiring additional personnel in this aféase investments have resulted in increased &igsts that do not vary with the level of
revenue. If the increased demand for our produmts ahot continue, we could experience decreasditafitity or losses as a result of these
increased fixed costs.

11
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Factors relating to our products and markets

The ongoing uncertainty and volatility in the glob&inancial markets related to the European sovegaidebt crisis and the scalled
“fiscal cliff” in the U.S. may adversely affect th€ompany’s operating result&lobal financial markets continue to experienceuwtisons,
including increased volatility, and diminished lidily and credit availability. In particular, degiments in Europe have created uncertainty
with respect to the ability of certain Europeanrmiigs to continue to service their sovereign dddbigations. This debt crisis and related
European financial restructuring efforts may cahsevalue of the Euro to deteriorate, reducingptiehasing power of our European
customers and reducing the translation of Eurodeseenues into U.S. dollars. In the event thatmm@ore countries were to replace the Eur
with their legacy currency, then the Company’s Saeand to such countries, or Europe generallylaviikely be adversely affected until
stable exchange rates were established. In additierEuropean crisis is contributing to instapilit global credit markets. Finally, global
credit markets and the condition of the U.S. doinestd global economy could be further affectedHzy“fiscal cliff” tax increases and
spending cuts that were scheduled to go into effectanuary 1, 2013. While Congress made changieféo some of these austerity measure
from going into effect, economic growth in the WmitStates could stall or go into recession whiofgrag other things, could decrease deman
for our products and services and adversely affactash flows and results of operations. If glamnomic and market conditions, or
economic and financial market conditions in Eurdpe,United States or other key markets, remairuain, persist, or deteriorate further, our
customers may respond by suspending, delayingdoicieg their expenditures, which may adverselyafteir cash flows and results of
operations.

The continued weakness in the U.S and internatiomalonomies may negatively impact our sales to, #ralcollection of receivable
from, our financial services and insurance custonseand possibly our customers in other industriOur sales to, and our collection of
receivables from, our customers may be impacteadvgrse changes in global economic conditions,oihein the U.S., Europe and Asia
Pacific. In the past few years, these regions leaperienced instability in financial markets, tighing credit, and weak overall economic
conditions, which has impacted the financial sexsiand insurance industries in particular. Thesads could impact the ability and willingn
of our financial services and insurance custon@erd,possibly our customers in other industriespade investments in technology, which n
delay or reduce the amount of purchases of ouwaoft and professional services. These factors ast@dimpact the ability and willingness of
these customers to pay their trade obligationshexmibr their contractual commitments under their-nancelable term licenses. These
customers may also become subject to increasieglyictive regulatory requirements, which couldifior delay their ability to proceed with
new technology purchases. Our financial servicesiagurance customers as a group represent aisgrifimount of our revenues and
receivables. Accordingly, their potential finandiadtability could negatively impact our businesgerating results, and financial condition.

We will need to acquire or develop new productgleg existing ones, and adapt to technology chandechnical developments,
customer requirements, programming languages,ratusiry standards change frequently in our markets result, success in current mar
and new markets will depend upon our ability toarde current products, to acquire or develop ammddnce new products that meet custome
needs, keep pace with technology changes, resparmhipetitive products, and achieve market acceptadProduct development requires
substantial investments for research, refinememnt tasting. There can be no assurance that wénaitk sufficient resources to make necessat
product development investments. We may experidiifieulties that will delay or prevent the succkdslevelopment, introduction, or
implementation of new or enhanced products. Inghiti introduce or implement new or enhanced priglirca timely manner would advers:
affect future financial performance.

12
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The market for our offerings is intensely and inaasingly competitive, rapidly changing, and highlyagigmented The market for our
software and related implementation, consulting), aining services is intensely competitive, répithanging and highly fragmented. We
currently encounter significant competition fromeimal information systems departments of potewotiaxisting customers that develop
custom software. We also compete with large teagytompanies such as IBM, Oracle and SAP, compdha target the customer
interaction and workflow markets, companies focusedusiness rules engines or enterprise applicattegration, “pure play” BPM
companies, industry-specific application vendonsl professional service organizations that develgtom software in conjunction with
rendering consulting services. Competition for neaghare and pressure to reduce prices and masecaicessions are likely to increase.
Many competitors have far greater resources andlbaable to respond more quickly and efficientlyéa or emerging technologies,
programming languages or standards or to changasstomer requirements or preferences. Competitagsalso be able to devote greater
managerial and financial resources to develop, ptenand distribute products and provide relatetsaliing and training services. There has
been recent consolidation in the BPM market whetatger companies such as IBM, Oracle, and Openfiaax acquired companies that
provide BPM software, which we expect will furthecrease competition. There can be no assurantaéhaill be able to compete
successfully against current or future competitarthat the competitive pressures faced by usneillmaterially adversely affect our business,
operating results, and financial condition.

We have historically sold to the financial servigessurance and healthcare markets, and rapid chasgor consolidation in these
markets could affect the level of demand for ourggiucts.We have historically derived a significant portiminour revenue from customers in
the financial services, insurance, and healthcamkets, and sales to these markets are importanufduture growth. Competitive pressures,
industry consolidation, decreasing operating margiegulatory changes, and privacy concerns atfectinancial condition of our customers
and their willingness to buy. In addition, custosigrurchasing patterns in these industries fordaeghnology projects are somewhat
discretionary. The financial services and insuraneekets are undergoing intense domestic and itiermal consolidation and financial
turmoil, and consolidation has been occurring mtialthcare market. Consolidation may interruptnab buying behaviors and increase the
volatility of our operating results. In recent ygaseveral of our customers have been merged sptidated, and we expect this to continue in
the near future. Future mergers or consolidatioag cause a decline in revenues and adversely affeduture financial performance. All of
these factors affect the level of demand for oodpcts from customers in these industries, anddcadersely affect our business, operating
results and financial condition.

We rely on certain third-party relationshipsVe have a number of relationships with third partleat are significant to sales,
marketing and support activities, and product dewelent efforts. We rely on software and hardwarelees, large system integrators, and
technology consulting firms to provide marketinglaales opportunities for the direct sales forattarstrengthen our products through the
of industry-standard tools and utilities. We alswén relationships with third parties that distrdour products. There can be no assurance the
these companies, most of which have significamt®ater financial and marketing resources, will a@telop or market products that compete
with ours in the future or will not otherwise endlinit their relationships with us.
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We face risks from operations and customers basetside of the U.SSales to customers located outside of the U.Sesepted
approximately 46% of our total revenue in 2012, ragjmately 48% of our total revenue in 2011, andragimately 41% of our total revenue
in 2010. We, in part through our wholly owned sdimiies, market products and render consultingteaiding services to customers based
outside of the U.S. including, for example, custmrieased in Canada, the United Kingdom, Francen@ay, Italy, the Netherlands, Belgium,
Switzerland, Austria, Ireland, Finland, Hungary|dPal, Sweden, Turkey, Russia, Mexico, Australiain@hHong Kong, and Singapore. We
have established offices in North America, Eurdf&a, including India, and Australia. We believattigrowth will necessitate expanded
international operations, requiring a diversiom@nagerial attention and increased costs. We patehiring additional personnel to
accommodate international growth, and we may at$erénto agreements with local distributors, repraatives, or resellers. If we are unable
to do one or more of these things in a timely manmer growth, if any, in our foreign operationsynige restricted, and our business, operatin
results, and financial condition could be mateyialhd adversely affected.

In addition, there can be no assurance that webwilible to maintain or increase international mademand for our products.
Additional risks inherent in our international busss activities generally include unexpected chaingesgulatory requirements, increased
tariffs and other trade barriers, the costs ofliairey products for local markets and complyinglwibcal business customs, longer accounts
receivable patterns and difficulties in collectiiogeign accounts receivable, difficulties in enfagccontractual and intellectual property rights,
heightened risks of political and economic insiabithe possibility of nationalization or exprogtion of industries or properties, difficulties in
managing international operations, potentially asgd¢ax consequences (including restrictions oatrigting earnings and the threat dbuble
taxation”),increased accounting and internal control experasebsthe burden of complying with a wide varietyfareign laws. There can be
assurance that one or more of these factors wilhawve a material adverse effect on our foreigrratmns, and, consequentially, our business,
operating results, and financial condition.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchamgées that could negatively impact our financia¢sults and cash flows.
Because a significant portion of our business igocted outside the U.S., we face exposure to advapovements in foreign currency
exchange rates. These exposures may change oeeagitnusiness practices evolve, and they coulddavaterial adverse impact on our
financial results and cash flows. Our internaticsaes are usually denominated in foreign currendibe operating expenses of our foreign
operations are primarily denominated in foreigrrencies, which partially offset our foreign currgrexposure on our international sales. Our
U.S. operating company invoices most of our foreigstomers in foreign currencies, so it holds @aghaccounts receivable denominated in
these foreign currencies, which are subject toidoreurrency transaction gains or losses. Beginirirte second quarter of 2011, we have
entered into foreign currency forward contractsmgnage our exposure to changes in foreign currexclyange rates affecting foreign curre
denominated accounts receivable and cash heldiby.&u operating company. The use of these foreigrency forward contracts partially
mitigates the exposure to the foreign currencysaation gains and losses. If we were to ceasedacesour use of foreign currency forward
contracts or similar hedging arrangements, a deergathe value of foreign currencies, particuldly British pound and the Euro relative to
the U.S. dollar, could adversely impact our finahogsults and cash flows.

Factors relating to our internal operations and poential liabilities

We depend on certain key personnel, and must be ablattract and retain qualified personnel in tHature. The business is
dependent on a number of key, highly skilled techlnimanagerial, consulting, sales, and marketearggnnel, including our Chief Executive
Officer. The loss of key personnel could adverséfgct financial performance. We do not have agyificant key-man life insurance on any
officers or employees and do not plan to obtain &wyr success will depend in large part on thatghid hire and retain qualified personnel.
The number of potential employees who have thenskte knowledge of computer hardware and operatystems needed to develop, sell,
maintain our products is limited, and competitiontheir services is intense, and there can bessarance that we will be able to attract and
retain such personnel. If we are unable to do sobasiness, operating results, and financial d@mmtould be materially adversely affected.
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We may experience significant errors or securitg\its in our product and services, and could facevaigy, product liability and
warranty claims as a resulDespite testing prior to their release, softwadpcts frequently contain errors or security flaaspecially when
first introduced or when new versions are releaBechrs in our software products could affect thiitg of our products to work with other
hardware or software products, or could delay taneetbpment or release of new products or new vessid products. The detection and
correction of any security flaws can be time conisignand costly. Errors or security flaws in ourta@fre could result in the inadvertent
disclosure of confidential information or persodata relating to our customers, employees, or {rarties. Software product errors and
security flaws in our products or services coulgase us to privacy, product liability and warradkgims as well as harm our reputation, whict
could impact our future sales of products and ses:iOur license agreements typically contain jgioms intended to limit the nature and
extent of our risk of product liability and warrgrdlaims. There is a risk that a court might intetghese terms in a limited way or could hold
part or all of these terms to be unenforceableo Alsere is a risk that these contract terms mmighbind a party other than the direct customer
Furthermore, some of our licenses with our custsraez governed by non-U.S. law, and there is ahiskforeign law might give us less or
different protection. Although we have not expecieth any material product liability claims to daeyroduct liability suit or action claiming a
breach of warranty, whether or not meritorious,Idaasult in substantial costs and a diversion ahagement’s attention and our resources.

We face risks related to intellectual property atas or appropriation of our intellectual propertyghts.We rely primarily on a
combination of copyright, trademark and trade dadeavs, as well as confidentiality agreementsrtdget our proprietary rights. We have
obtained patents from the U.S. Patent and Trade@#8ite relating to the architecture of our systelv& cannot assure that such patents will
not be invalidated or circumvented or that rightsnged thereunder or the claims contained therdimpwovide us with competitive advantages.
Moreover, despite our efforts to protect our prefany rights, unauthorized parties may attempbfny@spects of our products or to obtain the
use of information that we regard as proprietamyaddition, the laws of some foreign countries dbprotect our proprietary rights to as great
an extent as do the laws of the U.S. There carolassurance that our means of protecting our mtgpyi rights will be adequate or that our
competitors will not independently develop similechnology.

There can be no assurance that third parties wfiltlaim infringement by us with respect to currenfuture products. Although we
attempt to limit the amount and type of our cortiratliability for infringement of the proprietarjghts of third parties, these limitations often
contain certain exclusions, and we cannot be adshed these limitations will be applicable andagnéable in all cases. Even if these
limitations are found to be applicable and enfobteaour liability to our customers for these typé€laims could be material in amount given
the size of certain of our transactions. We exfiadt software product developers will increasinggysubject to infringement claims as the
number of products and competitors in our induseégment grows and the functionality of productdifferent industry segments overlaps.
Any such claims, with or without merit, could bm#&-consuming, result in costly litigation, causedurct shipment delays, or require us to
enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Sugfalty or licensing agreements, if required, may ®available on terms acceptable to us or «
all, which could have a material adverse effectrupor business, operating results, and financiadlitimn.
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We are subject to increasingly complex and burdemsoU.S. and foreign laws and regulations, and amidire to comply with thes
laws and regulations could subject us to, amongaetlthings, penalties and legal expenses that cduddm our reputation or have a materi
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiand results of operationd/Ve are subject to extensive federal, state andgiotaws and
regulations including but not limited to the U.®r&gn Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribermt And similar laws and regulations. The
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Actd similar foreign anti-bribery laws generallppibit companies and their intermediaries
from making improper payments to non-U.S. personsghfe purpose of obtaining or retaining busin&asilar laws and regulations exist in
many other countries throughout the world in whighdo or intend to do business. We have developddraplemented a compliance progr
based on what we believe are current best practicesve cannot guarantee that we, our employegs;ansultants or our contractors are or
will be in compliance with all federal, state amddign regulations, particularly as we expand qerations outside of the U.S. If we or our
representatives fail to comply with any of thesedar regulations, a range of fines, penalties@nather sanctions could be imposed on us,
which could have a material adverse effect on ogirtess, financial condition and results of operai Even if we are not determined to have
violated these laws, government investigations fhése issues typically require the expenditurggdificant resources and generate negative
publicity, which could also have an adverse eftacbur business, financial condition and resultsperations.

If our security measures are breached and/or unaatfzed access is obtained to a customer’s configennformation from our
cloud computing service offering, we may be exposedignificant legal and financial liabilitiesOur cloud computing service offering allo
customers to create and deploy PRPC-based applisaising an internet-based infrastructure. THirioig involves the hosting of customers’
applications which may contain confidential infotioa, including personal and financial data regagdiheir end customers on the servers of
third-party technology provider. We also rely oirdiparty systems including encryption, virtualizefrastructure and support. Because we di
not control the transmissions between our custoamedsour third-party infrastructure providers, fiecessing of data on the servers of the
third-party technology providers, or the internahtrols maintained by the third-party technologgviders that could prevent unauthorized
access and provide appropriate data encryptiortanaot ensure the complete integrity or securityumh transmissions, data or processing.
Our security measures may be breached as a réshitdparty action, including intentional miscamd by computer hackers, system error,
human error or otherwise. Because the techniquess$ tasobtain unauthorized access or to sabotagensgchange frequently and generally
not recognized until launched against a targetmag be unable to anticipate these techniques iongtement adequate preventative measure:
While we have invested in the protection of ourtoosers’ data to reduce these risks, there can lessarance that our efforts will prevent
breaches in our systems. Security breaches coplosexus and our customers to a risk of loss orgaistithis information. Any security brez
could result in a loss of confidence in the seguwftour service, damage our reputation, disrupthausiness, lead to legal liability and
negatively impact our future sales. We carry daéath insurance coverage to potentially mitigagefitiancial impact of such potential legal
liability.
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ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 2. Properties

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing,mup, and research and development operation®eateld at One Rogers Street,
Cambridge, Massachusetts in an approximately 1683%00are foot leased facility. Our lease expire0i23, subject to our option to extend for
two additional fiveyear periods. We also lease space for our othamesffn the U.S., Australia, Canada, India, thetéthKingdom and in oth:
European and Asian countries under leases thateeapvarious dates through 2020. We periodicalluate the adequacy of existing facilit
and additional facilities in new cities, and weibe¢ that additional or alternative space will baiable as needed in the future on
commercially reasonable terms.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

None.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Market Information

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Globak8eMarket (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “PEGAThe following table se!

forth the range of high and low sales prices ofemmmon stock on NASDAQ for each quarter in theeyesmded December 31:

Common Stock Price

2012 2011
High Low High Low

First Quarter $39.0¢ $25.81 $41.1¢ $30.8-
Second Quarte $39.97 $29.7¢ $47.1¢ $34.3(
Third Quartel $33.3¢ $22.51 $47.5¢5 $30.5¢
Fourth Quarte $29.1¢ $19.0( $40.67 $26.87
Holders

As of February 1, 2013, we had approximately 38ldtolders of record and approximately 29,700 bei@fowners of our common
stock.
Dividends

In July 2006, we began paying a quarterly castddivil of $0.03 per share of common stock. Quartardh dividends are expected to

continue at $0.03 per share, subject to changémination at any time by our Board of Directors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table sets forth information regamgliour repurchases of our common stock during thetficquarter of 2012.

Total Number of

Shares Approximate Dollar
Purchased as Pai Value of Shares That
May Yet Be Purchased
of Publicly Under Publicly
Total Number Average Price Announced Share Announced Share

Repurchased Programs (1
of Shares Paid per Repurchase

Period Purchased Share Program (1) (in thousands)
10/1/2012-10/31/2012 18,95( $ 2552 18,95( $ 9,56¢
11/1/2012-11/30/2012 28,15( $ 20.6Z 28,15( $ 8,98¢
12/1/2012-12/31/2012 10,51¢ $ 22.1¢ 10,51¢ $ 14,79
Total 57,61¢ $ 2251

(1) Since 2004, our Board of Directors has appratedk repurchase programs that have authorizegkthechase, in the aggregate, up to

$92.4 million of our common stock. On December2@®] 2, we announced that our Board of Directors @ a $6 million increase in
the remaining funds available under the progranirgxpon December 31, 2012, and an extension oéfpération date to December 31,
2013. Under this program, the “Current Program’fcpases may be made from time to time on the opmkehor in privately negotiated
transactions. Shares may be repurchased in suchndsnas market conditions warrant, subject to gy and other considerations. We
have established a pre-arranged stock repurchaseiptended to comply with the requirements ofeRLOb5-1 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and of Rule B0bf1he Exchange Act (the “10b5-1 Plan”). All shaepurchases under the Current
Program during closed trading window periods willrhade pursuant to the 1(-1 Plan.
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Stockblder Return

The following performance graph represents a cormspaof the cumulative total stockholder returrs(aming the reinvestment of
dividends) for a $100 investment on December 30720 our common stock, the Total Return Indextfer NASDAQ Composite ASDAQ
Composite”), a broad market index, and the Stan&apPdors (“S&P”) North Software-Software Index™ &8 NSSI”), a published industry

index. We paid dividends of $0.15 per share dugidg2 and $0.12 per share during 2011, 2010, 20@b2808. We expect to pay dividends of
$0.09 per share in 2013 as the fourth quarter ©22fividend was paid in December 2012 rather thalanuary 2013. The graph lines merely

connect measurement dates and do not reflect #tions between those dates.
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Pegasystems In $100.0( $104.6° $289.2¢ $312.8( $251.8¢ $195.1:
NASDAQ Composite $100.0( $60.0: $87.2¢ $103.0¢ $102.2¢ $120.3¢
S&P NSSI $100.0( $61.7¢ $91.3¢ $114.3¢ $106.5: $125.1:
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Date

The selected financial data presented below has degved from our audited consolidated financiatements. This data should be
read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion &nalysis of Financial Condition and Results @e@ations”, the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes.

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands, except per share amount:

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Total revenue $ 461,71 $ 416,67 $ 336,59¢ $ 264,01 $ 211,64
Income (loss) from operatiol 31,42¢ 10,49 (2,580 41,81¢ 14,47¢
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for incotares 30,94 10,81 (6,199 47,41¢ 15,67:
Net income (loss 21,86¢ 10,10¢ (5,89)) 32,21 10,977
Net earnings (loss) per sha

Basic $ 0.5¢ $ 0.27 $ (0.16) $ 0.8¢ $ 0.3C

Diluted $ 0.5¢€ $ 0.2¢€ $ (0.16) $ 0.8t $ 0.2¢
Cash dividends declared per common sl $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat¢
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sies $ 122,98! $ 111,43: $ 87,25 $ 202,65: $ 167,22¢
Working capital 123,88! 89,71¢ 73,60¢ 188,55 159,08
Long-term license installments, net of unearneerast
income — — 1,22 2,97¢ 5,41

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortiz: 58,23: 69,36 80,68¢ 33¢€ 47¢
Goodwill 20,45 20,45 20,45 2,391 2,141
Total asset 439,49: 381,71: 337,47" 279,58! 245,85(
Stockholder’ equity 236,47¢ 208,75t 195,67( 205,21¢ 173,11

The following items impact the comparability of aonsolidated financial data:

. Our acquisition of Chordiant in April 2010. Duritige first quarter of 2011, the Company recordedsidjents to the purchase pi
allocation of its acquisition of Chordiant. As ré@a by applicable business combination accountihgs, these adjustments were
applied retrospectively. Therefore, other curressiess, long-term other assets, goodwill, accrupémses, and deferred tax assets
were revised as of December 31, 2010 to reflecetlagljustments. These revisions did not have apgdtron the Company’s
previously reported results of operations or cédshd.

. Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) of §0ligon, $(0.9) million, $(5.6) million, $2.1 miibn, and $(4.5) million, during the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, 2010, 2062@08, respectively. See Item 7*Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure
about Market Ris” for further discussion of our foreign currency eaxge risk
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ITEM 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

Business overview

We develop, market, license, and support softwahéch allows organizations to build, deploy, andiehe enterprise applications
easily and quickly. Our unified software platformaéles our customers to build enterprise applinatio a fraction of the time it would take
with competitive disjointed architectures, by difgcapturing business objectives, automating progning, and automating work. We also
provide consulting services, maintenance, anditrgirelated to our software.

We focus our sales efforts on target accounts, lwaire large companies or divisions within compaaies typically leaders in their
industry. Our strategy is to sell a series of laesithat are focused on a specific purpose orcd@gerations, rather than to sell a large
enterprise license.

Our license revenue is primarily derived from sakeur PRPC software and related solution framé&adPRPC is a comprehensive
platform for building and managing BPM applicatidhat unifies business rules and business proce@sesolution frameworks, built on the
capabilities of PRPC, are purpose or industry-dipeoollections of best practice functionality, whiallow organizations to quickly implement
new customefacing practices and processes, bring new offeriogsarket, and provide customized or specializedgssing. Our products ¢
simpler, easier to use and often result in shamptementation periods than competitive enterpsisféware products. PRPC and related
solution frameworks can be used by a broad rangestbmers within financial services, insurance|theare, communications, energy and
government markets.

Our solution frameworks products include custonedationship management (“CRM”) software, which dralunified predictive
decisioning and analytics and optimizes the ovetxatomer experience. Our decision management pt®dnd capabilities are designed to
manage processes so that actions optimize theggractcomes based on business objectives. We gerttirinvest in the development of new
products and intend to remain a leader in BPM, CRiM] decision management.

We also offer Pega Cloud, a service offering thlatxs customers to create and/or deploy Pega agifglits using an Internet-based
infrastructure. This offering enables our custonmersnmediately build, test, and deploy their apglions in a secure cloud environment while
minimizing their infrastructure and hardware co&svenue from our Pega Cloud offering is includeddnsulting services revenue.

We offer training for our staff, customers, andtpars at our regional training facilities, at thpdrty facilities, and at customer sites
2012, we began offering training online through @A&gademy, which provides an alternative way torieaur software in a virtual environm
quickly and easily. We expect that this onlinertiag will help expand the number of trained expatta faster pace.

Our total revenue increased 11% in 2012 compar@@1d and reflects revenue growth in each of sgéiiaense, maintenance, and
professional services revenue. License revenueased 18%, primarily driven by the increase in thtense revenue. Maintenance revenue
increased 14%, primarily due to the increase irathgregate value of the installed base of our sofvand continued strong renewal rates.
Professional services gross margin increased toih 72812 largely due to lower on-boarding time axgenses associated with reduced hiring
as more of our customers became enabled and mptenrantation projects were led by our partner2dh2, we generated approximately
$43.6 million in cash from operations due to ouosg collections, and ended the year with $123ionilin cash, cash equivalents, and
marketable securities.

We believe our growth and success in 2012 werdatue
. Our disciplined and focused global sales strateggrigeted customer
. The return on investment our clients achieve frbmuse of Pega technology, leading to repeat pses!;
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. Demand for our indust-leading software solutions and servic
. Investment in making our products faster and edsiase; ant
. Expansion of our solutions framewaorks offerin

We believe that the ongoing challenges for ourress include our ability to drive revenue growttpand our expertise in new and
existing industries, remain a leader in CRM anddéeision management markets, and maintain ouefehib position in the BPM market.

To support our growth and successfully addressthballenges through 2013 we plan to:

. Extend our product leadership through continuedwation;

. Improve the end user experience with enhancedinseface;

. Maintain our focused global sales strategy to tadeustomers

. Invest in our research and development by sigmiflgancreasing headcour
. Build-out our sales capacity by hiring additional salefgssionals

. Invest in sekstudy enablement to expand the Pega ecosy:

. Further develop and leverage our partner alliarmed

. Develop and increase our solutions framewc

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
2012 Compared to 2011

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase

2012 2011
Total revenue $ 461,71 $ 416,67 $ 45,03 11%
Gross profit 304,33 251,87 52,45: 21%
Total operating expens: 272,90: 241,38: 31,52: 13%
Income from operation 31,42¢ 10,49« 20,93: 19<%
Income before provision for income tay 30,94¢ 10,81 20,13: 18€%

The aggregate value of new license arrangementaitedin 2012 was slightly higher than in 2011. aggregate value of new licer
arrangements executed fluctuates quarter to quaneing 2012 and 2011, approximately 74% and S5&X4pectively, of new license
arrangements were executed with existing custoriiéesbelieve the continued demand for our softwaoelpcts and related services is due to
the strong value proposition, short implementafieniod, and variety of licensing models we offer ocustomers.

The increase in gross profit was primarily duehi® increase in license revenue and to a lessantgkiincrease in maintenance
revenue.

The increase in operating expenses was primariytduahe increase in selling and marketing expeasdgo a lesser extent the
increase in research and development expensesjassiowith higher headcount.

The increase in income from operations and incoeferb provision for income taxes was primarily do¢he higher increases in
license and maintenance gross profit comparedetinttrease in operating expenses.
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Revenue
(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase

2012 2011
License revenut
Perpetual license $ 102,43t 63% $ 94,12¢ 68% $ 8,30¢ 9%
Term license! 46,63¢ 28% 34,45 25% 12,18t 35%
Subscriptior 1483( 9% 10,228 7% 4,608 45%
Total license revent $ 16390 10% $ 13880 10(% $ 25,09 18%

In both 2011 and 2012, more than 50% of the aggeegdue of new license arrangements for the figeal was executed in our fou
quarter. A large proportion of the value of thesargements was term licenses that contributed litdeyto the increase in our term license
revenue in 2012, but will be recognized as revendeture periods. As a result, the aggregate vafuature payments due under non-
cancelable term licenses increased significantlyoitih 2011 and 2012 from $90.9 million as of Decen®i, 2010 to $161.4 million as of
December 31, 2011 and to $211.5 million as of Ddmmm31, 2012. The increase in term license revésn2012 is a result of the increase in
the aggregate value of future payments due undecancelable term licenses arrangements from pears. See the table of future cash
receipts by year from these term licenses on p&ge 3

The increases in the aggregate value of term lcansngements executed in a certain period iaea#ssarily indicative of the
volume level in future periods.

The mix between perpetual and term license arrapgtsrexecuted in a particular period varies basetlistomer needs. A change in
the mix between perpetual and term license arrargesrexecuted over time may cause our revenuesyawaterially from period to period.
The increase in perpetual license revenue was phyntue to the increase in the aggregate valueeof perpetual license arrangements
executed during the fourth quarter of 2012.

Subscription revenue primarily consists of the lsitaecognition of license, maintenance and bunsgésdices revenue on perpetual
license arrangements that include a right to uriipdduture products. Subscription revenue dogsmdude revenue from our Pega Cloud
offerings. The timing of scheduled payments undestamer arrangements may limit the amount of regehat can be recognized in a
reporting period. Consequently, our subscriptioreneie may vary quarter to quarter. The increasalirscription revenue was primarily due to
the full year of revenue recognized in 2012 on samangements for which we began recognizing resémthe fourth quarter of 2011.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase
2012 2011

Maintenance revenut
Maintenance $ 133,52 $ 117,11 $ 16,41 14%

The increase in maintenance revenue was primauiytd the growth in the aggregate value of thealtest base of our software and
continued strong renewal rates.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase (Decrease)

2012 2011
Professional services revent
Consulting service $ 157,79 96% $ 153,91¢ 96% $ 3,87t 3%
Training 6,48t _ 4% 6,83¢ _ 4% (359 5%
Total Professional servici $ 164,27 10(%  $ 160,75 10% 3% 3,51¢ 2%
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Professional services are primarily consulting mewrelated to new license implementations. Resdram our Pega Cloud offerings
is included in consulting services revenue and tagrimary driver for the increase in professiosealices revenue in 2012. In addition, our
consulting services revenue increased due to higladization rates in 2012 compared to 2011. Asenodrour customers are becoming enable
and our partners are leading the majority of impdetation projects, our consulting services revanag be lower in future periods.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase

2012 2011
Gross Profit
Software licens: $ 157,56 $ 132,11 $ 25,45 1%
Maintenance 118,74l 104,03: 14,70 14%
Professional service 28,02: 15,73( 12,29: 78%
Total gross profi $ 304,33l $ 251,87 $ 52,45! 21%
Total gross profit % 6€% 6C%
Software license gross profit 9€% 95%
Maintenance gross profit ' 8% 8%
Professional services gross profit 17% 1C%

As a result of the increased number of customerpanther led implementations, we have slowed thadbf consulting services
personnel, reducing non-billable on-boarding timd acreasing utilization rates of our staff, réisg in higher gross profit percentages. If we
increase our hiring pace in future periods, we @a@gin incur on-boarding and enablement costs thgtnesult in lower professional services
gross profit percentages.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31, (Decrease)

2012 2011
Amortization of intangibles:
Cost of software licens $ 6,18¢ $ 6,28¢ $ (99 (2%
Selling and marketin 4,92¢ 4,92¢ — —
General and administrati 20 102 (83) (81)%

$ 1113 $ 1131 $ (179 )%

The decrease in amortization expense was due @ntloetization in full of our trade name intangilkeset in 2011 and our technology
designs intangible asset in the first quarter df20

Operating expenses
Year Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2012 2011

Selling and marketing

Selling and marketin $ 167,26 $ 147,45 $ 19,80 13%
As a percent of total reveni 36% 35%
Selling and marketing headcot 52C 464 56 12%

Selling and marketing expenses include compensdiemefits, and other headcount-related expensesiated with our selling and
marketing personnel as well as advertising, proomsti trade shows, seminars, and other progranimdgsehd marketing expenses also include
the amortization of customer related intangibles.
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We continue to create additional sales capacitinbyeasing sales headcount to target new accougtsisting industries, as well as to
expand coverage in new industries and geographiesincrease in selling and marketing expenseswagrily due to a $19.3 million
increase in compensation and benefit expensesiatbwith higher headcount, partially offset b$lal million decrease in commission
expense.

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2012 2011
Research and developme
Research and developme $ 76,72 $ 65,30 $ 11,41 17%
As a percent of total reveni 17% 16%
Research and development headct 727 528 204 3%

Research and development expenses include comjmendanefits, contracted services, and other rmaderelated expenses
associated with research and development. Theaser® headcount reflects growth in our India redetacility as we have been replacing
contractors with employees. The increase in offstih@adcount lowered our average compensation expengmployee.

The increase in research and development experageprimarily due to a $9.9 million increase in cemgation and benefit expenses
associated with higher headcount and a $3.3 miiliorease in rent and facilities related expenssee@ated with the build-out of our U.S. and
India facilities, partially offset by a $2.3 milliodecrease in engineering contractor expenses.

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2012 2011
General and administrativ
General and administrati $ 28,91 $ 28,19 $ 717 3%
As a percent of total reveni 6% 7%
General and administrative headco 251 21¢€ 35 16%

General and administrative expenses include conapiens benefits, and other headcount-related exgseassociated with the finance,
legal, corporate governance, and other adminiggdteadcount. It also includes accounting, legad, @ther professional consulting, and
administrative fees.

The general and administrative headcount includgdayees in human resources, information technotouj/corporate services
departments whose costs are allocated to the frestr dunctional departments.

We completed the move to our new office headquaitethe third quarter of 2012 and ceased useeofdimer office space in the
fourth quarter of 2012, resulting in approximat$0:2 million in lease exit costs. We recorded agpnately $5.7 million and $1.9 million of
rent expense under the new lease arrangement dtfiriyand 2011, respectively.

Stoclk-based compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseatesbwith equity awards in our consolidated staets of operations based on
the fair value of these awards at the date of grant

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase

2012 2011
Stoclk-based compensatio
Cost of service $ 3,65 $ 2,73 $ o1t 34%
Operating expenst 7,851 6,291 1,56( 25%
Total stocl-based compensation before 11,50¢ 9,02¢ $ 2,47¢ 27%
Income tax benefi (3,699) (2,859
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The increase in stock-based compensation expersenmaarily due to the higher value of the annwaigdic equity grant, the annual
executive grant and new hire grants. See Note feckSBased Compensation” in the notes to the acemryipg audited consolidated financial
statements for further information on our stockdahawards.

Non-operating income and (expenses), net

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Change
2012 2011
Foreign currency transaction gain (loss) $ 78C $ (935 $ 1,71¢ n/m
Interest income, ne 41 39¢ 2. 5%
Other (expense) income, r (1,680 85€ (2,536 n/m
$ (487) $ 31¢ $ (800 n/m

n/m — not meaningful

We hold foreign currency denominated accounts vatée, intercompany payables, and cash in our @p&rating company where the
functional currency is the U.S. dollar. As a restliese receivables, intercompany payables, aridarassubject to foreign currency transactior
gains and losses when there are changes in exchatiegebetween the U.S. dollar and the foreignenies. The fluctuations in foreign
currency transaction gains and losses were priynduié to the changes in the value of the Britishrgband Euro relative to the U.S. dollar
during 2012 and 2011.

Beginning in the second quarter of 2011, we entardforeign currency forward contracts to manageexposure to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates affecting the épreiurrency denominated accounts receivable, immepany payables, and cash held by our
U.S. operating company. We have not designatee ttaesign currency forward contracts as hedgingumsents and as a result, we record the
fair value of the outstanding contracts at the efnithe reporting period in our consolidated balasiteet, with any fluctuations in the value of
these contracts recognized in other (expense) iacapt. The fluctuations in the value of theseifpreurrency forward contracts recorded in
other (expense) income, net, partially offset inineome the gains and losses from the remeasutesnsettiement of the foreign currency
denominated accounts receivable, intercompany pegadnd cash held by the U.S. operating compatorded in foreign currency transacti
gain (loss).

The total change in the fair value of our foreigmrency forward contracts recorded in other (expeirecome, net, during 2012 and
2011 was a loss of $1.7 million and a gain of $6ifion, respectively.
Provision for income taxe:

The provision for income taxes represents curradtfature amounts owed for federal, state, anddareaxes. During 2012 and 2011,
we recorded a $9.1 million provision and a $0.7iamilprovision, respectively, which resulted ineffective tax rate of 29.3% and 6.5%,
respectively

Our effective income tax rate for 2012 was below gtatutory federal income tax rate due to a $1llBombenefit related to the curre
period domestic production activities and a $1.Rioni benefit related to lower foreign income tates. These benefits were partially offset by
$1 million of permanent differences related to neshatctible meals and foreign stock compensation.
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The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (the “Actlas signed into law by President Obama on Jaria2@13. Among other
things, the Act retroactively extends the researuth experimentation (“R&E”) credit through the esfd®013. Under ASC 740, Income Taxes,
the effects of new legislation are recognized upoactment, which in the U.S. federal jurisdictisriiie date the president signs a tax bill into
law. For the Company this means that both the aetiee tax effects for the 2012 R&E credit and tdre effects for the 2013 R&E credit will
recognized in the 2013 financial statements. IfGoenpany had recognized the effects of the 201ditare2012, the effective tax rate in 2012
would have been lowered by approximately 2.6%.

Our effective income tax rate for 2011 was below $tatutory federal income tax rate due to a $2lfomreduction in liabilities
established for unrecognized tax benefits and esponding reduction in income tax expense relgteshcertain tax positions of prior years
for which the statute of limitations expired, a%hillion benefit related to the current period destic production activities and a $0.6 million
benefit related to tax credits from our continuegkeistment in research and development activitibes& benefits were partially offset by a $0.:
million increase in our valuation allowances and$fillion of permanent differences related to nechactible meals.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had approgimn&®6.3 million of total unrecognized tax bergfibf which $16 million
would decrease the Compasgffective tax rate if recognized. However, apprately $9.2 million of these unrecognized tax Hiseelate tc
acquired NOLs and research tax credits, which abgest to limitations on use. The Company expdws the changes in the unrecognized
benefits within the next twelve months will be aggmately $0.6 million, which would reduce the Caang’s effective tax rate if realized.

2011 Compared to 2010

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase (Decrease)
2011 2010

Total revenue $ 416,67 $ 336,59 $ 80,07 24%
Gross profit 251,87 207,86! 44,01 21%
Acquisitior-related cost 482 5,92¢ (5,447) (92)%
Restructuring cost (62 8,06¢ (8,126 n/m
Other operating expens 240,96: 196,45 44,50¢ 23%
Total operating expens 241,38: 210,44! 30,93¢ 15%
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for incotares 10,81 (6,199 17,01( n/m

n/m — not meaningful

The aggregate value of license arrangements exkou011 was significantly higher than in 2010roany prior year. We believe t|
continued demand for our software products andeelgervices is due to the strong value propositbort implementation period, and variety
of licensing models we offer our customers. In &ddj our significant investment in hiring salesgmnnel has generated license sales to
customers in new and existing industries and gebugea.

The increase in gross profit was primarily duehi® increase in maintenance revenue and to a lestartt the increase in license
revenue.

The increase in operating expenses was primargytdihe increase in selling and marketing expeasssciated with higher
headcount and higher sales commissions relatdtetmtrease in the value of license arrangemersuted.

The increase in income (loss) before provision éfiénfor income taxes was primarily due to thergase in maintenance and license
gross profit and the decrease in foreign exchaoggek in 2011 compared to 2010, partially offsahleyincrease in total operating expenses.
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Revenue
(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase

2011 2010
License revenut
Perpetual license $  94,12¢ 68% $ 79,04: 66% $ 15,08¢  19%
Term license: 34,45 25% 31,94( 27% 2,518 8%
Subscriptior 10,228 7% 8,85¢ 7% 1,360  15%
Total license revent $ 13880 10(% $ 119,83 10% $ 18,96  16%

The aggregate value of license arrangements exkou11 was significantly higher than in 2010aak prior year. The aggregate
value of license agreements executed in the fayuénter of 2011 set a quarterly record for the Camyprimarily due to a significant increase
in the value of term license arrangements execétathange in the mix between perpetual and terene arrangements executed in a period
varies based on customer needs, which may causew®mnues to vary materially quarter to quarter.

The increase in perpetual license revenue was ghintlue to an increase in the aggregate valueegbgtual license arrangements
executed. Many of our perpetual license arrangesnanlude extended payment terms and/or additioghats of use that delay the recognition
of revenue to future periods. The aggregate valygagments due under these licenses was $48.4maks of December 31, 2011 compared t
$32.8 million as of December 31, 2010.

We recognize revenue for our term license arrangésrever the term of the agreement as paymentsiieedae or earlier if prepaid.
The increase in our term license revenue was pilyrdue to revenue from the increased aggregatgeval term license arrangements exec
during 2011, partially offset by higher prepayment2010. Prepayments can cause our term licensmue to vary quarter to quarter. Total
future payments due under term licenses increas$di@1.4 million as of December 31, 2011 compaoe®bD.9 million as of December 31,
2010.

Subscription revenue primarily consists of the lsitaecognition of license, maintenance and bunsgésdices revenue on perpetual
license arrangements that include a right to uriipdduture products. Subscription revenue dogsmdude revenue from our Pega Cloud
offerings. The timing of scheduled payments undestamer arrangements determines the amount of uevéat can be recognized in a
reporting period. Consequently, our subscriptiorereie may vary quarter to quarter.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase
2011 2010

Maintenance revenut
Maintenance $ 117,11 $ 83,87 % 33,23 40%

The increase in maintenance revenue was primauiytide continued increase in the aggregate valtleeahstalled base of our
software and a full year of maintenance revenu#ated to license arrangements executed by Chatrgigor to the acquisition.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase

2011 2010
Professional services revent
Consulting service $ 153,91 96% $ 126,28 95% $ 27,63t 22%
Training 6,83¢ 4% 6,59¢ 5% 24C 4%
Total Professional servici $ 160,75 100% $ 132,88 10(% $ 27,871 21%
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Professional services are primarily consulting mewrelated to new license implementations. Thesise in consulting services
revenue was primarily due to higher demand foralsesvices as a result of the significant incréaslee number of license arrangements

executed in the fourth quarter of 2010 and 2011.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31

2011 2010
Gross Profit
Software licens: $ 132,11 $ 115,53
Maintenance 104,03: 72,831
Professional service 15,73( 19,49:
Total gross profi $ 251,87 $ 207,86!
Total gross profit percel 60% 62%
Software license gross profit perct 95% 96%
Maintenance gross profit perce 8% 87%
Professional services gross profit perc 10% 15%

Increase (Decrease

$ 16,57 14%
31,19¢ 43%
(3,762) (19)%

$ 44,01 21%

The decrease in software license gross profit mergas primarily due to the full year of amortizatiexpense in 2011 for the

technology intangibles we acquired as part of ther@iant acquisition in April 2010.

The increase in maintenance gross profit percestpsianarily due to the increase in maintenancerrege

During 2010, we continued to hire professional mew employees to support our growth and expan@xpertise across various
industries. The decrease in professional servioessgrofit percent was primarily due to loweriaétion as a result of an increased number o
newly hired personnel that required training bettwey could be assigned to customer projects. #talso due to the participation of an
increased number of existing professional seryig@sonnel in expert training programs. These ad@tr@ining programs are part of our
strategy to increase the pool of expertly trainedgssional services personnel to fulfill increadedhand for these services. The lower
utilization was partially offset by an increaseoimr overall realization rates in 2011 compareddb®

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010
Amortization of intangibles:
Cost of software licens $ 6,28¢ $ 4,231
Selling and marketin 4,92¢ 3,28¢
General and administrati 10z 18E
$ 11,31! $ 7,70:

Increase (Decrease)

$  2,05: 49%
1,64¢ 50%

(82) (44)%

$ 3,61 47%

The increase in amortization expense was dueutl gefar of amortization in 2011 associated witl8 $illion of intangible assets we
acquired as part of the Chordiant acquisition imil32010. The decrease in amortization expenseauded in general and administrative expe

was due to the Chordiant trade name intangiblet dsseg fully amortized in 2011.

Operating expenses

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands

2011
Selling and marketinc
Selling and marketin $ 147,45
As a percent of total reveni 35%
Selling and marketing headcol 464

29

2010

$ 116,23

35%

371

Increase

$ 31,22 27%

87 23%
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We continue to increase sales headcount to tagyetccounts in new and existing industries andsaceapanded geographies and to
create additional sales capacity for future periddie increase in selling and marketing expensesprienarily due to a $15.1 million increase
in compensation and benefit expenses associatadchigiher headcount, a $7.6 million increase in cissimns expense associated with the
record value of license arrangements executedid, 29 $1.6 million increase in amortization experedated to the acquired Chordiant
customer related intangibles, a $2.1 million inseed partner commissions expenses, a $1.7 milicrease in travel expenses, and a $1.2
million increase in sales and marketing programeesps, including our PegaWORLD user conference.

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2011 2010
Research and developme
Research and developme $ 65,30 $ 55,19 $ 10,11! 18%
As a percent of total reveni 16% 16%
Research and development headct 52¢ 397 12¢€ 32%

The increase in headcount reflects growth in odralmesearch facility. The increase in offshoredoeant lowered our average
compensation expense per employee.

The increase in research and development experaseprimarily due to an $8.9 million increase in pemsation and benefit expenses
associated with higher headcount, a $2.1 milli@mease in rent expense, partially offset by a ##lbon decrease in engineering contractor
expenses.

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands Increase
2011 2010
General and administrativ
General and administrati $ 28,19 $ 25,03 $ 3,16 13%
As a percent of total reveni 7% 7%
General and administrative headco 21¢€ 18C 36 20%

The increase in general and administrative expenasgprimarily due to a $1.1 million increase imensation and benefit expenses
associated with higher headcount and a $1.8 miiliorease in accounting fees and tax consultinglegal fees primarily related to the
expansion of our international operations.

As a result of our lease arrangement for our ndigeoheadquarters, we ceased use of our formereafin the fourth quarter of 2012.
In June 2011, because of our expectation that wédnaease use of our former offices, we revised¢heaining useful lives of certain
leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures r@corded incremental depreciation expense abappately $0.9 million during 2011.
We recorded approximately $1.9 million of rent exgpe under the new lease arrangement during 201te®deded approximately $0.8 millit
of this rent and depreciation in cost of serviced approximately $2 million in operating expenses.

Acquisition-related costs

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incianedinclude direct and incremental costs associatiddan impending or completed
acquisition. During 2011, the $0.5 million of acsjtibn-related costs were primarily legal fees ai&ged with litigation assumed from our
acquisition of Chordiant. During 2010, the $5.9limil of acquisition-related costs consisted of agpnately $3.1 million of due diligence
costs and advisory and legal transaction fees pappately $0.8 million of valuation and tax consuif fees, approximately $1.6 million of
legal costs associated with acquired litigatiord approximately $0.4 million of integration and etlexpenses related to our acquisition of
Chordiant.
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Restructuring cost:

Restructuring costs included approximately $6.3iomlof severance and related benefit costs reeeghiluring the second and third
quarters of 2010 for the reduction of personnehinitedundant roles as a result of our integratib@hordiant.

In connection with our evaluation of our combinadifities, we ceased use of space within a redurfdaiity during the fourth
quarter of 2010 and recorded approximately $1.Ganibf restructuring expenses, consisting of fatl#ase payments and demising costs, ne
of estimated sublease income for this space. Duheadirst quarter of 2011, we incurred an add#icb0.1 million of exit costs related to this
space and as a result of signing a sublease ®oslsice during the third quarter of 2011, we relviaa estimate of exit costs and recorded a
$0.2 million reduction of restructuring costs.

Stocl-based compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseatesbwith equity awards in our consolidated staets of operations based on
the fair value of these awards at the date of grant

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Increase

2011 2010
Stoclk-based compensatio
Cost of service $ 2,73 $ 1,82 $ 9L 50%
Operating expenst 6,291 4,92( 1,371 28%
Total stocl-based compensation before 9,02¢ 6,74% $ 2,28 34%
Income tax benefi (2,859 (2,18Y

The increase in stock-based compensation expersenmaarily due to the higher headcount and thateel expense associated with
the December 2010 periodic grant and 2011 newshirek-based grants. See Note 14 “Stock-Based Casagien” in the notes to the
accompanying audited consolidated financial statest®r further information on our stock-based aigar

Non-operating income and (expenses), net

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 Change
_ 2011 __ 2010
Foreign currency transaction loss $ (935) $ (5,569 $ 4,63« n/m
Interest income, ne 39 1,13 (740 (65)%
Other income, ne 85€ 814 4. 5%
$ 31¢ $ (3,61) $ 3,93¢ n/m

n/m — not meaningful

We hold foreign currency denominated accounts vabd, intercompany payables, and cash in our &p&rating company where the
functional currency is the U.S. dollar. As a restliese receivables, intercompany payables, aridarassubject to foreign currency transactior
gains and losses when there are changes in exchaegebetween the U.S. dollar and foreign curemncihe fluctuations in foreign currency
transaction gains and losses were primarily dubdgahanges in the value of the British pound ama Eelative to the U.S. dollar during 2011
and 2010.
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During 2011, the total change in the fair valu®@of foreign currency forward contracts recordedtimer income, net, was a net gait
$0.8 million. The impact on net income of the gaesorded on the foreign currency forward contracis the foreign currency transaction
losses recorded on the remeasurement and settlembet foreign currency denominated assets, wast bss of approximately $1.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2011. This net@ssprimarily due to the timing of settlementmtiercompany balances and foreign
currency denominated cash held as of the end giahied, for which we did not have foreign curremegward contracts.

The decrease in interest income was primarily duewer yields earned and a lower weighted-avevadige of marketable securities
held throughout the year ended December 31, 20tpared to the same period in 2010.

Provision (benefit) for income taxe

The provision (benefit) for income taxes representsent and future amounts owed for federal, statd foreign taxes. During 2011
and 2010, we recorded a $0.7 million provision arD.3 million benefit, respectively, which resdlia an effective tax rate of 6.5% and
(4.9%), respectively.

Our effective income tax rate for 2011 was below $tatutory federal income tax rate due to a $2lomreduction in unrecognized
tax benefits and a corresponding reduction in inedex expense related to uncertain tax positioqwiof years for which the statute of
limitations expired, a $1.5 million benefit relatiexdthe current period domestic production acegtand a $0.6 million benefit related to tax
credits from our continued investment in researah @evelopment activities. These benefits werdglgrbffset by a $0.3 million increase in
our valuation allowances and $0.6 million of pereatrdifferences related to nondeductible meals.

During 2010, we recorded a valuation allowancerzgjatate credits and a discrete item relatedgmtindeductible portion of
acquisition-related costs we incurred during 2@0ich reduced our tax benefit by approximately $2iion and $0.7 million, respectively.
The consolidation of Chordiant’s operations hagjaiicant impact on our consolidated state apparient factors. As a result of this change,
we recorded a valuation allowance against certaiie gredits.

As of December 31, 2011, unrecognized tax benigfitded approximately $25.3 million, of which $18@lion, if recognized, would
decrease our effective tax rate. However, approtain&11.1 million of these unrecognized tax beseklated to acquired net operating losse
(“NOLs") and research tax credits, which if recaggd, would be subject to limitations on use.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(in thousands Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010
Cash provided by (used ir
Operating activitie! $ 43,57 $ 39,81 $ 18,41
Investing activities (29,239 (45,389 6,841
Financing activitie: (8,097 (6,317) (13,25)
Effect of exchange rate on ce 927 1,111 (4,739
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equig $ 17,17 $ (10,779 $ 7,27(
As of December 31
2012 2011 2010
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sies $ 122,98! $ 111,43 $ 87,25

We believe that our current cash, cash equivalent$ cash flow from operations will be sufficieotftind our operations and our sh
repurchase program for at least the next 12 months.
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In June 2011, we entered into a lease arrangementf new office headquarters in Cambridge, Mdsssetts commencing on July
2011 and terminating on December 31, 2023, subjeatir option to extend for two additional fiyear periods. We completed the move to
new office headquarters in the third quarter of28md ceased use of the former office space ifotimh quarter of 2012, resulting in
approximately $0.2 million in lease exit costs. Tamaining $0.5 million of lease payments for #psice will be paid by the end of the seconc
quarter of 2013.

We invested approximately $12.8 million in 2012t ekour landlord tenant improvement allowanceftoniture, fixtures, IT
equipment, and leasehold improvements for our nfieecheadquarters.

We evaluate acquisition opportunities from timeitee, which if pursued, could require use of ourds. Approximately $51.5 million
of our cash and cash equivalents is held in owidorsubsidiaries. If it became necessary to rigtatthese funds, we may be required to pay
U.S. tax, net of any applicable foreign tax credifson repatriation. We consider the earnings offoreign subsidiaries to be permanently
reinvested and, as a result, U.S. taxes on suclingarare not provided. It is impractical to estienlne amount of U.S. tax we could have to
upon repatriation due to the complexity of the fignetax credit calculations and because we consideearnings permanently reinvested.
There can be no assurance that changes in ourgiariser events affecting our operations will regult in materially accelerated or
unexpected expenditures.

Cash provided by operating activities

The primary drivers of cash provided by operatiotivities during 2012 were net income of $21.9 ioilland a $24.8 million increase
in deferred revenue primarily resulting from th#etience in timing of billings and revenue recogmitfor annual maintenance.

The primary drivers of cash provided by operatiotivties during 2011 were $10.1 million of net @me and a $14.6 million increase
in deferred revenue primarily resulting from th&eatience in timing of billings and revenue recogmtfor annual maintenance.

Cash used in operating activities during 2010 wasgrily due to our net loss of $5.9 million an#23.4 million increase in accounts
receivable.

Future Cash Receipts from License Arrangements

Total contractual future cash receipts due fromexisting license agreements was approximately $2illon as of December 31, 2012
compared to $209.9 million as of December 31, 20hk. future cash receipts due as of December 3P, 26 summarized as follows:

Other contractual

Contractual license payments nc
payments for term
licenses not recorded on recorded on the
As of December 31,(in thousands the balance sheet (1) balance sheet (2 Total
2013 $ 55,17( $ 18,16: $ 73,33
2014 54,52¢ 12,19¢ 66,72:
2015 48,27: 5,79: 54,06¢
2016 38,54 7,38¢ 45,93:
2017 and thereaftt 14,98( — 14,98(
Total $ 211,49! $ 43,53} $255,03:

(1) These amounts will be recognized as revenue ifutinee over the term of the agreement as paymertsrbe due or earlier if prepa

(2) These amounts will be recognized as reventigtime periods and relate to perpetual and subtgmmificenses with extended payment
terms and/or additional rights of u:

33



Table of Contents

Cash (used in) provided by investing activities

During 2012, we invested $23.6 million primarilyl@asehold improvements, furniture and fixtures egdipment for the build-out of
our U.S. and India offices.

During 2011, cash used in investing activities wamarily for purchases of marketable debt seasifor $57.2 million, partially
offset by the proceeds received from the salesynitias and called marketable debt securities df B2nillion. We also invested $9.8 million
property and equipment, primarily leasehold improeats, computer equipment and furniture and fixddioe our U.S. and UK offices.

During the first quarter of 2010, we sold our maakde securities to pay for the Chordiant acquisitDuring the second quarter of
2010, we paid $109.2 million, net of cash acquitedsomplete the Chordiant acquisition. During 2046 invested $3.6 million in computer
equipment, leasehold improvements and furnitureferes primarily for our Cambridge location a#i#l.2 million in capitalized software
primarily related to our implementation of an aacting system.

Cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities during 2QA@1.1, and 2010, was primarily for repurchases ofcommmon stock and the payment
of our quarterly dividend. Since 2004, our Boardakctors has approved annual stock repurchaggqmes that have authorized the
repurchase up to $92.4 million of our common sté@wkof December 31, 2012, approximately $71.2 onllhas been repurchased,
approximately $14.8 million remains available fepurchase and approximately $6.4 million expiradcRases under these programs have
been made on the open market.

Common stock repurchases

The following table is a summary of our repurchasgvity under all of our stock repurchase progralmsng 2012, 2011, and 2010:

(Dollars in thousands 2012 2011 2010

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Prior year authorizations at January 1, $ 13,96 $ 13,23 $ 15,77
Authorizations 6,03¢ 5,59( 5,75(
Repurchases pa 181,80: (5,130 137,42¢ (4,81%) 294,05¢ (8,272)
Repurchases unsettl 3,39¢ (76) 1,68¢ (49 53¢ (20)
Authorized dollars remaining as of December $ 14,79: $ 13,96 $ 13,23:

In addition to the share repurchases made undeepurchase programs, we net settled the majofritpioemployee stock options
exercised and RSUs vested. During 2012 and 20Xibnognd RSU holders net settled stock optionsvestied RSUs representing the right to
purchase a total of 548,000 shares and 704,00@shaspectively, of which only 319,000 shares4#®]000 shares, respectively, were issuet
to the option and RSU holders and the balanceeo$liares were surrendered to us to pay for theisgaqurice and the applicable taxes. Durinc
2012 and 2011, instead of receiving cash from ¢héty holders, we withheld shares with a value 4#$million and $6.3 million, respectively,
for withholding taxes, and $2.7 million and $4.3lion, respectively, for the exercise price. Théueaof share repurchases and shares withhe
for net settlement of our employee stock optiorreiges and vesting of RSUs offset the proceedsvwett@inder our various share-based
compensation plans during 2012, 2011 and 2010.
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Dividends

We declared $0.12 per share for the year endednbeme31, 2012, but our Board of Directors authatiae to accelerate the payment
of the fourth quarter dividend to be paid in Decem®012 rather than in January 2013. Thereforgyaig $5.7 million in dividends in 2012.
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010ewulared $0.12 per share and paid cash dividen$i$.6fmillion, and $4.4 million,
respectively. It is our current intention to pagarterly cash dividend of $0.03 per share, howeherBoard of Directors may terminate or
modify this dividend program at any time withoutiae.

Contractual obligations

As of December 31, 2012, we had purchase obligafioncustomer support and marketing programs achpnts under operating
leases. Our lease arrangement for our new offieddugarters expires in 2023, subject to our optioextend for two additional five-year
periods. We also lease space for our other officeler non-cancelable operating leases that expiarmus dates through 2020.

As of December 31, 2012, our known contractualgations, including future minimum rental paymemguired under operating
leases with non-cancelable terms in excess of eaewere as follows:

Payment due by period

Contractual obligations: 2014 & 2016 & 2018 &

(in thousands) Total 2013 2015 2017 Thereafter Other

Purchase obligations (1) $ 685 $ 685 $ — % — % — 3 —

Liability for uncertain tax positions (: 13,60¢ — — — — 13,60¢

Operating lease obligations ( 90,86¢ 8,92¢ 17,91¢ 17,03: 46,98 —
Total $ 10515 $ 961 $ 1791 $ 1703 $ 46,98 $ 13,60

(1) Represents the fixed or minimum amounts due undexhase obligations for customer support and miadkgirograms

(2) As of December 31, 2012, our recorded liabfiityuncertain tax positions was approximately $18illion. We are unable to reasonably
estimate the timing of the cash outflow due to utaeties in the timing of the effective settlemefitax positions

(3) Includes deferred rent of approximately $1.1liari included in accrued expenses and approximéa8l4 million in other long-term
liabilities in the accompanying audited consoliddbalance sheet as of December 31, 2

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Management’s discussion and analysis of the firsaindition and results of operations is basecupo consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordeititaccounting principles generally accepted m thS. and the rules and regulations of
the SEC for annual financial reporting. The prepaneof these financial statements requires usdkerestimates and judgments that affect th
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenuesexpenses, and related disclosure of contingattsand liabilities. We base our estimates
and judgments on historical experience, knowledgaiopent conditions and beliefs of what could adeuthe future given available
information. We consider the following accountirgipies to be both those most important to thenagel of our financial condition and those
that require the most subjective judgment. If actesults differ significantly from management'sigmtes and projections, there could be a
material effect on our financial statements.
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Revenue recognitiol

Our revenue is derived primarily from software lises, maintenance fees related to our softwanesiése and consulting services. Oui
license arrangements, whether involving a perpditeise or a term license, generally contain rpldtelements, including consulting servic
training, and software maintenance services.

Software revenue recognition requires judgmentuiting whether a software arrangement includesipielelements, and if so,
whether vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSO&f'fair value exists for those elements. The anofiarrangement consideration
allocated to undelivered elements is based on 8@/ of fair value for those elements and recognazethose elements are delivered. Any
remaining portion of the total arrangement fedlscated to the software license, the first deldgeelement. Revenue is recognized for each
element when all of the revenue recognition citéxave been met.

Changes in the mix of the elements in a softwar@n@ement, the ability to identify VSOE for thodeneents, the fair value of the
respective elements, and changes to a producitsagst life cycle could materially impact the ambafhearned and unearned revenue.

Before we can recognize revenue, the following teasic criteria must be met:

* Persuasive evidence of an arrangemesfs evidence of the existence of an arrangementjsgea contract or purchase order signed b
the customer for software and maintenance andensémt of work for consulting services. In the ewée customer is a reseller we
ensure a binding agreement exists between thdeeaall end user of the software.

« Delivery of product—Software is delivered electronically or shipped dglisk media. Services, including maintenancecansidered
delivered as the work is performed or, in the a#s@aintenance, over the contractual service period

* Fee is fixed or determinable-We assess whether a fee is fixed or determindlileeautset of the arrangement. In addition, veess
whether contract modifications to an existing temangement constitute a concession. Our agreerdemtst include a right of return.

» Collection of fee is probable-We assess the probability of collecting from eagstomer at the outset of the arrangement based on
number of factors, including the customer’s payntestiory, its current creditworthiness, economioditions in the customer’s industry
and geographic location, and general economic tiondi If in our judgment collection of a fee istqpwobable, revenue is recognized as
cash is collected, provided all other conditionsrevenue recognition have been met.

Software license revenue

Perpetual software license fees are recognizeev@nue when the software is delivered, any acceptaquired by contract that is 1
perfunctory is obtained, no significant obligatiamrscontingencies exist related to the softwareepthan maintenance, and all other revenue
recognition criteria are met.

Term software license fees are payable on a marglyrterly, or annual basis under license agretsbat typically have a three to
five-year term and may be renewed for additionahteat the customer’s option.

As a result of our focus on frequent sales to artgdted customers, our strategy to sell initiahtBcensing agreements to those
customers with the goal to generate follow-on salad as a result of extended payment terms ared fatbtors, such as the risk of concession:
we recognize term license revenue over the tertheohgreement as payments become due or eanpipiaid, provided all other criteria for
revenue recognition have been met.
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Until 2005, the majority of our term license arrangents were larger agreements with extended payterens that did not typically
result in follow-on license agreements. We no longgize this business model for software licetremsactions and as of December 31, 2012
and 2011, the remaining balance of these instalimemeivables totaled zero and $1.3 million, retipely.

Subscription revenue primarily consists of licemaajntenance and bundled services revenue recaboizeur license arrangements
that include a right to unspecified future produethich is recognized ratably over the term ofshbscription period.

Maintenance revenue

First-year maintenance typically is sold with tkeéated software license and renewed on an anns& theereafter. Maintenance
revenue is deferred and recognized ratably ovetettme of the support period, which is generally gaar and subject to annual renewals.
Perpetual license maintenance obligations are basséparately stated renewal rates in the arramgetiat are substantive and therefore
represent VSOE of fair value. Term license arrarg@minclude separately stated maintenance feewande separate sales to determine
VSOE of fair value.

Professional services revenu

Our professional services revenue is compriseées for consulting services, including softwarelanmentation, training,
reimbursable expenses and sales of our Pega Cifarihg (“Pega Cloud”). Consulting services mayfdvevided on a “stand-alone” basis or
bundled with a license and software maintenanocgcssy.

Revenue from training services and consulting ses/uinder time and materials contracts is recodrageservices are performed. We
have VSOE of fair value for our training servicesl @onsulting services under time and material$raots in North America, Australia, and
Europe.

Consulting services may occasionally be providea €imed-price basis. We do not have VSOE of failue for fixed-price services or
time and materials services in certain geographegibns. When these services are part of a meléj@gment arrangement, and the services a
not essential to the functionality of the softwared when services, including maintenance, areitheundelivered element, we recognize the
revenue from the total arrangement ratably ovetdhger of the software maintenance period or éreise period. Revenue from fixed-price
services that are not bundled with a software Beeis generally recognized ratably during the serperiod, which is typically less than four
months.

Revenue from stand-alone sales of Pega Cloud égnézed ratably over the term of the service. Wingpiementation services are
sold together with our Pega Cloud offering and ¢h&=rvices have stand-alone value to the custameesccount for these services separately
from our Pega Cloud offering as described eartand-alone value is established through the cuesterability to buy these services from
many trained partner system integrators and framstictions sold independently from the sale of B#gad. Since these multiple-element
arrangements are not software license sales, wg aggelling price hierarchy. Under the sellingcerhierarchy, third-party evidence of selling
price (“TPE”") will be considered if VSOE does nodst, and estimated selling price (“ESP”) will bged if neither VSOE nor TPE is available.
Generally, we are not able to determine TPE asalas strategy is customized to the needs of aioers and our products or services are
dissimilar to comparable products or services érttarketplace. In determining ESP, we apply sigaift judgment as we weigh a variety of
factors, based on the facts and circumstancesdriangement. We typically arrive at an ESP feer@ice that is not sold separately by
considering company-specific factors such as ggdiea, competitive landscape, and pricing practisesl to establish bundled pricing and
discounting.
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Warranties and Indemnification

We warrant to our customers that our software petedwill conform to documented specifications fdimaited period. We have not
experienced significant claims related to softwaagranties beyond the scope of maintenance supplhith we are already obligated to
provide, and consequently we have not establiskegtves for warranty obligations.

Our agreements with customers generally requite isdemnify the customer against claims that adtwsare infringes third party
patent, copyright, trademark or other proprietégits. Such indemnification obligations are gergdahited in a variety of industry-standard
respects, including our right to replace an infimggproduct. As of December 31, 2012, we had npeegrnced any losses related to these
indemnification obligations and no claims were tansgling.

Deferred revenue

Deferred software license revenue typically resutimn customer billings for which all of the critatto recognize revenue have not
been met. Deferred maintenance revenue represdii@ee license updates and product support castthat are typically billed in advance
and are recognized ratably over the support periddierred professional services revenue represavianced billings for consulting and
training services that are recognized as the ses\ace performed.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Impairment

Goodwill represents the residual purchase pricé jpaa business combination after all identifiededs and liabilities have been
recorded. Goodwill is not amortized, but prior he tCompany’s adoption of the Financial Accountitgn8ards Board “FASB” Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2011-08/ritangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350)” (“ASW21-08") in the fourth quarter of 2011, was
tested annually in the fourth quarter for impairtnenbetween annual tests if indicators of potémtignairment exist. We performed our
gualitative assessment in the fourth quarter o228d 2011 and concluded it was not more likely that that the fair value of our single
reporting unit was less than its carrying value20i 0, we compared the carrying value of our répgnnit to its fair value. Had the fair value
of the reporting unit been less than its carryingpant, we would have determined the implied falueaf the goodwill and evaluated it for
impairment.

We evaluate our intangible assets for impairmergmvelrer events or changes in circumstances indicat¢he carrying amount of
such assets may not be recoverable. In evaluatiteppal impairment of these assets, we specifiahsider whether any indicators of
impairment are present, including, but not limited

. whether there has been a significant adverse chartge business climate that affects the valuanofsset
. whether there has been a significant change iextent or manner in which an asset is used;
. whether there is an expectation that the assebwifiold or disposed of before the end of its pally estimated useful life

If indicators of impairment are present, we comgheeestimated undiscounted cash flows that theifspasset is expected to genel
to its carrying value. These estimates involve ifigant subjectivity. If such assets are considdmetde impaired, the impairment to be
recognized is measured by the amount by whichdhgiog amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.
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Accounting for Income Taxe:

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilitiestduemporary differences between the book anthaars of recorded assets and
liabilities. Future realization of our deferred t@assets ultimately depends on the existence atmrft taxable income within the available
carryback or carryforward periods. Sources of téxairome include future reversals of existing tadgademporary differences, future taxable
income, taxable income in prior carryback years, t@ax planning strategies. We record a valuatitowaince to reduce our deferred tax assets
to an amount we believe is more likely than ndbéaealized. Changes in our valuation allowanceathincome tax expense in the period of
adjustment. Our deferred tax valuation allowanegglire significant judgment and uncertainties,udahg assumptions about future taxable
income that are based on historical and projectinimation.

We determined that we may utilize approximately@®85million of acquired Chordiant federal and fgrenet operating losses
(“NOLs"), of which approximately $113.2 million reamed available as of December 31, 2012. The aedidi@deral NOLs are subject to
annual limitations through 2029. As a result of puechase price allocation, we recorded deferre@saets of approximately $52.3 million
related to these acquired NOLs. If our taxable ineas not consistent with our expectations or iméng of income is not within the applicable
carryforward period, we may be required to esthldisaluation allowance on all or a portion of hdsferred tax assets.

We assess our income tax positions and recordeiagflts based upon management’s evaluation ofattts,fcircumstances, and
information available at the reporting date. Farséntax positions where it is more-likely-than-tiwt a tax benefit will be sustained, we recorc
the largest amount of tax benefit with a greatantB0 percent likelihood of being realized upoimate settlement with a taxing authority
having full knowledge of all relevant informatidror those income tax positions where it is not Mikedy-than-not that a tax benefit will be
sustained, no tax benefit is recognized in thenfineal statements. We classify liabilities for urie@r tax positions as non-current liabilities
unless the uncertainty is expected to be resolitdnwone year. We classify interest and penaltiesincertain tax positions as income tax
expense.

As a global company, we use significant judgmerdaiculate and provide for income taxes in eacthefax jurisdictions in which we
operate. In the ordinary course of our businegsethre transactions and calculations undertak@sevhltimate tax outcome cannot be certain
Some of these uncertainties arise as a conseqoétremsfer pricing for transactions with our suligiies and nexus and tax credit estimate
addition, the calculation of acquired tax attrittuéed the associated limitations are complex. WWimate our exposure to unfavorable outco
related to these uncertainties and estimate theapitity of such outcomes.

Although we believe our estimates are reasonablassurance can be given that the final tax outasith@ot be different from what
is reflected in our historical income tax provisspreturns, and accruals. Such differences, orggsaim estimates relating to potential
differences, could have a material impact on oocoine tax provision and operating results in théopgen which such a determination is made.

See Note 15 “Income Taxes” in the notes to the mpamying audited consolidated financial statemfmtfurther information.

ITEM 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that mdgaifus due to adverse changes in financial mankegs and rates. Our market risk
exposure is primarily related to fluctuations imgign exchange rates and interest rates.

Foreign currency exposure

We derived approximately 46%, 48%, and 41%, oftotal revenue from sales to customers based outithee U.S. in 2012, 2011
and 2010, respectively. Our international salesuatally denominated in foreign currencies. Howgthes operating expenses of our foreign
operations are also primarily denominated in fareigrrencies, which partially offset our foreigrraincy exposure. A decrease in the value o
foreign currencies, particularly the British powenatl the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar, couldexdely impact our revenues and operating
results.
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Beginning in the second quarter of 2011, we havered into foreign currency forward contracts tanage our exposure to changes ir
foreign currency exchange rates affecting foreigmency denominated accounts receivable, intercagnpayables, and cash held by our U.S.
operating company.

Our U.S. operating company invoices most of oueifpm customers in foreign currencies, so it holshcand receivables denominatec
in these foreign currencies. Our U.S. operatingpamy’s functional currency is the U.S. dollar. Téfere, when there are changes in the
foreign currency exchange rates versus the U.$ardale recognize a foreign currency transactidn ga (loss) in our consolidated statements
of operations. In addition, we have intercompamgoaats that are eliminated in consolidation, bat #xpose us to foreign currency exchange
rate fluctuation, which are recorded as foreigrengy transaction gains or (losses) in our conatdid statements of operations.

We are primarily exposed to changes in the valub@Euro and British pound relative to the U.SladoWe have not designated the
foreign currency forward contracts as hedging uments and as a result, we record their fair vatibe end of each reporting period in our
consolidated balance sheet as other current desefsrealized gains and accrued expenses for limeddosses, with any fluctuations in the
value of these contracts recognized in other ingarag in our consolidated statements of operatiGeserally, we enter into contracts with
terms of 90 days or less.

The fluctuations in the value of these foreign enay forward contracts partially offset the gaind éosses from the remeasurement o
settlement of the foreign currency denominated astoreceivable, intercompany payables, and cdslhblyethe U.S. operating company, thus
mitigating the volatility.

During 2012, the Company entered into and settlegidn currency forward contracts to sell €49.7ionland £52 million and receive
in exchange $145.4 million. During 2011, the Compentered into and settled foreign currency forwadtracts to sell €28.5 million and
£19.5 million and receive in exchange $71.4 millids of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 20&1Ctmpany did not have any foreign
currency forward contracts outstanding. During 2Qfk& change in the fair value of the Comparfgreign currency forward contracts recon
in other (expense) income, net, was a loss of illlibn. During 2011, the change in the fair valfehe Company’s foreign currency forward
contracts recorded in other (expense) incomewet,a gain $0.8 million.

The impact on net income of the gains and lossegded on the foreign currency forward contractsictvis included in other
(expense) income, net, in the accompanying coretelitistatements of operations, and the foreigreoayrtransaction gains and losses
recorded on the remeasurement and settlement édrsign currency denominated assets, which isighedl in foreign currency transaction ¢
(loss) in the accompanying consolidated statenafdperations, was a net loss of approximately $illon and $1.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectivelyseThet losses were primarily due to timing of setgént of intercompany balances and
foreign currency denominated cash held as of tkdeoétthe period, for which we did not have fore@nrency forward contracts.

Interest rate exposure

As of December 31, 2012, we had $45.5 million ofkatable debt securities, which consisted of capoand municipal bonds, with a
weighted-average remaining maturity of 11 monthse B the overall short-term remaining maturitiesur marketable debt securities, our
interest rate exposure is not significant. As o€&maber 31, 2012, a 200 basis point increase ineharterest rates would have reduced the fa
value of our fixed rate marketable debt securitigspproximately $0.8 million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Pggfasns Inc.
Cambridge, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiariesQtmepany”) as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related cdasedl statements of operations, comprehensive a¢mss), stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the plezinded December 31, 2012. We also have auditeddhmany’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, basedriteria established imternal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway ComimissThe Company’s management is responsible fseHinancial statements, for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting, and for its assessment of the effeatss of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying ManagenseR€port on Internal Control over Financial RepaytiOur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and an opiniothe Company’s internal control over financegorting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all exal respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basideace supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirthecial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estismatade by management, and evaluating the ovemaldial statement presentation. Our a
of internal control over financial reporting inckall obtaining an understanding of internal conts@rdinancial reporting, assessing the risk
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaduthie design and operating effectiveness of ivalecontrol based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other proceslass we considered necessary in the circumstaneebelieve that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi a company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pmrs performing similar functions, and effected yoanpanys board of directors, manageme
and other personnel to provide reasonable assuragaeding the reliability of financial reportingdithe preparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles. A company’s internatteol over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheanaintenance of records that, in reasonablel detaurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@jide reasonable assurance that transactionse@eded as necessary to permit preparatio
of financial statements in accordance with gengrdtepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are bein
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngen@ent and directors of the company; and (3) peoxédisonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigjon, use, or disposition of a company’s astless could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internalteonover financial reporting, including the poséiip of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatémdue to error or fraud may not be preventatktected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenesthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all matenéspects, the financial position of
Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decemb&032 and 2011, and the results of their operatsord their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20T@nformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of Amer
Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, imaterial respects, effective internal control ofieancial reporting as of December 31,
2012, based on the criteria establishethtarnal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 20, 2013
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable $ies
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance of $968%$92¢
Deferred income taxe
Income taxes receivab
Other current asse
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Long-term deferred income tax
Long-term other asse
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill
Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrued compensation and related expe
Deferred revenu
Total current liabilities
Income taxes payab
Long-term deferred revent
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000 share®dnéd; no shares issued and outstan
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000 shares @90 shares authorized; 37,945 shares and
37,712 shares issued and outstan
Additional paic-in capital
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive incol
Net unrealized gain on availa-for-sale marketable securiti
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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As of December 31

2012 2011

77528 $ 60,35
45,46( 51,07
122,98t 111,43
134,06t 98,29
10,20: 9,82¢
6,261 7,54¢
5,49¢ 4,86¢
279,01( 231,96
30,82 14,45¢
49,29: 43,28¢
1,68 2,18¢
58,23 69,36
20,45 20,45
43949 $ 381,71
333 $ 10,89
15,53¢ 18,33¢
40,71¢ 39,17(
95,54¢ 73,84(
155,12 142,24
13,55 9,54
18,71¢ 15,36
15,61¢ 5,79¢
203,01 172,95t
37¢ 377
138,57 129,70
94,34 77,02
88 57
3,081 1,59:
236,47 208,75

439,49; $ 38171
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Revenue
Software licens:
Maintenance
Professional service
Total revenus
Cost of revenue
Cost of software licens
Cost of maintenanc
Cost of professional servic
Total cost of revenu
Gross profit
Selling and marketin
Research and developmt
General and administrati
Acquisitior-related cost
Restructuring cosl
Total operating expens
Income (loss) from operatiol
Foreign currency transaction gain (lo
Interest income, ne
Other (expense) income, r
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for incotares
Provision (benefit) for income tax
Net income (loss

Net earnings (loss) per shz
Basic

Diluted

Weightec-average number of common shares outstar
Basic

Diluted

Cash dividends declared per sh

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
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Year ended December 31
2012 2011 2010

$163,90¢ $ 138,80 $119,83¢

133,52 117,11 83,87¢
164,27 160,75¢ 132,88:
461,71( 416,67 336,59
6,33¢ 6,69: 4,30z
14,78 13,07 11,04:
136,25 145,02t 113,39(
157,38( 164,79¢ 128,73
304,33( 251,87 207,86
167,26 147,45 116,23
76,72¢ 65,30¢ 55,19:
28,91¢ 28,19¢ 25,03
482 5,92¢

— (62) 8,06¢
272,90 241,38 210,44
31,42¢ 10,49: (2,580)
78C (935) (5,56¢)
41¢ 39¢ 1,13¢
(1,680) 85¢€ 814
30,94¢ 10,81 (6,197
9,071 70E (30€)

$21,86( $ 1010¢ $ (5,89)

$ 056 $ 027 $ (0.16
$ 056 $ 026 $ (0.16)

37,85¢ 37,49¢ 37,03:
38,85¢ 39,40« 37,03:
$ 0.17 $ 0.1Z $ 0.1
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(in thousands)

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Net income (loss $ 21,86¢ $ 10,10¢ $ (5,89))
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
Unrealized gain (loss) on securit 31 93 (33¢)
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains inctiigdenet loss — — (237)
Foreign currency translation adjustme 1,49¢ 29€ 14¢
Total other comprehensive income (lo 1,52¢ 38¢ (42€6)
Comprehensive income (los $ 23,39 $ 10,49 $ (6,31)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

45



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated
Other

Additional Comprehensive Total
Paid-In Retained Stockholders’
Common Stock Capital Earnings Income Equity
Number
of Shares Amount

Balance at January 1, 2010 36,81¢ $ 36 $ 121,38¢ $ 81,77¢ $ 1,68¢ $ 205,21
Repurchase of common stc (29%) ©)] (8,289 (8,292
Issuance of common stock for share-based

compensation plar 69C 7 (4,720 — — (4,719
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase

Plan 22 — 59t — — 59t
Issuance of stock awar 15 — 42C — — 42C
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 6,32¢ — — 6,32¢
Value of stock options issued for acquisition of

Chordiant — — 3,51¢ — — 3,51¢
Tax benefit from exercise or vesting of equity

awards, net of deferred tax asset deficiencies of

$351 — — 3,36¢ 3,36¢
Cash dividends declared ($0.12 per sh — — — (4,459 — (4,45%)
Other comprehensive lo — — — — (42€) (42€)
Net loss — — — (5,89)) — (5,89))
Balance at December 31, 20 37,25( % 372 $ 122,600 $ 71,43 $ 1,26 $ 195,67(
Repurchase of common sta (239 (D) (4,869) (4,869
Issuance of common stock for share-based

compensation plar 57& 6 (4,299 — — (4,287
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purcha

Plan 18 — 647 — — 647
Issuance of stock awar 8 — 35C — — 35C
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 8,67¢ — — 8,67¢
Tax benefit from exercise or vesting of equity

awards, net of deferred tax asset deficiencies of

$83 — — 6,57¢ — — 6,57t
Cash dividends declared ($0.12 per sh — — — (4,510 — (4,510
Other comprehensive incor 38¢ 38¢
Net income — — — 10,10¢ — 10,10¢
Balance at December 31, 20 37,71 % 377 % 129,70 $ 77,02¢ $ 1,64¢ $ 208,75t
Repurchase of common sta (18%) 2 (5,209 (5,20€)
Issuance of common stock for share-based

compensation plar 382 4 (3,869 — — (3,865
Exercise of common stock warral 2 — — — — —
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock Purchase

Plan 22 — 602 — — 602
Issuance of stock awar 12 — — — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 11,50¢ — — 11,50¢
Tax benefit from exercise or vesting of equity

awards, net of deferred tax asset deficiencies

$284 — — 5,83¢ — — 5,83¢
Cash dividends declared ($0.12 per sh — — — (4,54%) — (4,54¢)
Other comprehensive incor 1,52¢ 1,52¢
Net income — — — 21,86¢ — 21,86¢
Balance at December 31, 20 37,94 $ 370 $ 13857 $ 94,34 $ 317" $ 236,47

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Operating activities
Net income (loss $ 21,86¢ $ 10,10¢ $ (5,89)
Adjustment to reconcile net income (loss) to casivided by operating activitie
Excess tax benefits from exercise or vesting oftggwards (6,037 (6,659 (3,719
Deferred income taxe (6,169 (15,269 (1,579
Depreciation and amortizatic 18,56¢ 17,46: 11,98¢
Amortization of investment 1,41¢ 84¢ 994
Stocl-based compensation expel 11,50¢ 9,02¢ 6,74¢
Foreign currency transaction Ic 88¢€ 977 4,75
Other nor-cash 3,351 1,74¢ (1,359
Change in operating assets and liabilit
Trade accounts receivat (35,409 (18,509 (23,365
Income taxes receivable and other current a 6,58¢ 10,51¢ (1,217)
Accounts payable and accrued expet (7,595 9,05( 4,25(
Deferred revenu 24,78 14,59¢ 23,92
Other lon¢-term assets and liabilitie 9,801 5,90¢ 2,881
Cash provided by operating activiti 43,57¢ 39,81 18,41
Investing activities
Purchases of marketable securi (20,209 (57,249 (73,619
Proceeds from maturities and called marketablerges. 24,57¢ 20,64¢ 34,42¢
Sale of marketable securiti — 1,04¢ 161,26(
Payments for 2010 acquisition, net of cash acqt — — (109,229
Contingent consideration paid for a 2008 acquisi — — (250
Investment in property and equipmi (23,61() (9,835 (5,749
Cash (used in) provided by investing activil (19,239 (45,38%) 6,841
Financing activities
Issuance of common stock for st-based compensation pla 1,12¢ 2,622 2,86:
Excess tax benefits from exercise or vesting oftggwards 6,031 6,65¢ 3,71¢
Dividend payments to sharehold: (5,680) (4,495 (4,447)
Common stock repurchases for tax withholdings &irsettlement of equity awar (4,397 (6,267) (6,989
Common stock repurchases under share repurchageprs (5,179 (4,835 (8,40¢)
Cash used in financing activiti (8,099 (6,317) (13,257
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equis 927 1,111 (4,739
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 17,17: (10,779 7,27(
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 60,35: 71,12] 63,85’
Cash and cash equivalents, end of $ 77,52 $ 60,35 $ 7112
Supplemental disclosure
Income taxes pai $ 5,10¢ $ 2,56¢ $ 1,582
Non-cash investing and financing activi
Dividends payabl $ — $ 1,13 $  1,11¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

(a) Business

The Company develops, markets, licenses, and siggaftware to automate complex, changing busipessesses. The Company
provides implementation, consulting, training, aachnical support services to facilitate the usisofoftware.

(b) Management estimates and reporting

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@a United States of America
(“U.S.”) requires management to make estimategwaaginents that affect the reported amounts of ass®t liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effitancial statements and the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the periods
presented. Actual results could differ from thostneates. Accounts with reported amounts basedgmifisant estimates and judgments
include revenue, allowance for sales credit memefgrred income taxes, income taxes payable, iitilngssets, goodwill, accrued expenses,
deferred revenue, and stock-based compensation.

(c) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include Resgans Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries.idiércompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Revenue recognition

The Company'’s revenue is derived primarily fromtwafe licenses, maintenance fees related to thep@oys software licenses, and
consulting services. The Company’s license arramgesnwhether involving a perpetual license ormtiécense, generally contain multiple
elements, including consulting services, traingmy] software maintenance services.

Software revenue recognition requires judgmentutting whether a software arrangement includesipialelements, and if so,
whether vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSO&f fair value exists for those elements. The anhofiarrangement consideration
allocated to undelivered elements is based on 8@ of fair value for those elements and recognézethose elements are delivered. Any
remaining portion of the total arrangement fedlzcated to the software license, the first delegeelement.

Before we can recognize revenue, the following tmasic criteria must be met:

. Persuasive evidence of an arrangem—As evidence of the existence of an arrangemeatCttmpany uses a contract or purchase
order signed by the customer for software and raaarice, and a statement of work for consultingicesvIn the event the
customer is a reseller the Company ensures a lgjradjreement exists between the reseller and emabiifee software

. Delivery of produc—The Company delivers its software electronicallglips it via disk media. Services, including ntairance,
are considered delivered as the work is performethdhe case of maintenance, over the contraseraice period
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

. Fee is fixed or determinab—The Company assesses whether a fee is fixed ermdietable at the outset of the arrangement. In
addition, we assess whether contract modificatiorss existing term arrangement constitute a ca@icesThe Company’s
agreements do not include a right of rett

. Collection of fee is probable-The Company assesses the probability of colledtimp each customer at the outset of the
arrangement based on a number of factors, incluti@gustomer’s payment history, its current ckedithiness, economic
conditions in the customer’s industry and geograjdgation, and general economic conditions. thiea Company’s judgment
collection of a fee is not probable, revenue i9geized as cash is collected, provided all othedi@mns for revenue recognition
have been me

Software license revenues

Perpetual software license fees are recognizeev@nue when the software is delivered, any acceptaquired by contract that is 1
perfunctory is obtained, no significant obligatiamrscontingencies exist related to the softwareepthan maintenance, and all other revenue
recognition criteria are met.

Term software license fees are payable on a marghlyrterly, or annual basis under license agretsbat typically have a three to
five-year term and may be renewed for additionahteat the customer’s option.

As a result of the Company’s focus on frequentsstdets targeted customers, the Company'’s stragetgysell initial term licensing
agreements to those customers with the goal torgenfollow-on sales, and as a result of extendsanent terms and other factors, such as tt
risk of concessions, the Company recognizes tarem$ie revenue over the term of the agreement asgudy become due or earlier if prepaid,
provided all other criteria for revenue recognititave been met.

Until 2005, the majority of the Company’s term lse arrangements were larger agreements with eedgratyment terms that did not
typically result in follow-on license agreement®eTCompany no longer utilizes this business maatetdftware license transactions and as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, the remaining balahttese installment receivables totaled zero and #illlion, respectively.

Subscription revenue primarily consists of licemaajntenance, and bundled services revenue re@mjoiz our license arrangements
that include a right to unspecified future produetkich is recognized ratably over the term ofshbscription period.

Maintenance revenues

First-year maintenance typically is sold with tkeéated software license and renewed on an anns& theereafter. Maintenance
revenue is deferred and recognized ratably ovetettme of the support period, which is generally gaar and subject to annual renewals.
Perpetual license maintenance obligations are basséparately stated renewal rates in the arraagetimat are substantive and therefore
represent VSOE of fair value. Term license arrarg@minclude separately stated maintenance feethar@ompany uses separate sales to
determine VSOE of fair value.

Professional services revenues

The Company’s professional services revenue is cgepof fees for training, consulting serviceduding software implementation,
reimbursable expenses, and sales of its Pega @kxaeplatform offering (“Pega Cloud”). Consultirengces may be provided on a “stand-
alone” basis or bundled with a license and softwaaitenance services.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Revenue from “stand-alone” training services anusodting services under time and materials corgrisctecognized as services are
performed. The Company has VSOE of fair value t®training services and consulting services utidex and materials contracts in North
America, Australia, and Europe.

Consulting services may be provided on a fixedephasis. The Company does not have VSOE of fairevidr fixed-price services or
time and materials services in certain geographegibns. When these services are part of a meléj@ment arrangement, and the services a
not essential to the functionality of the softwaaed when services including maintenance, aretheumdelivered element, the Company
recognizes the revenue from the total arrangenaably over the longer of the software maintengreréod or the service period. Revenue
from fixedprice services that are not bundled with a softiiaense is generally recognized ratably duringgéevice period, which is typical
less than four months.

Revenue from stand-alone sales of Pega Cloud égnézed ratably over the term of the service. Wingmlementation services are
sold together with the Company’s Pega Cloud offeand these services have stand-alone value twttemer, the Company accounts for
these services separately from its Pega Cloudioffers described earlier. Stand-alone value i$bsteed through the customer’s ability to buy
these services from many trained partner systeagiators and from transactions sold independertty the sale of Pega Cloud. Since these
multiple-element arrangements are not software$ieesales, the Company applies a selling pricaruley. Under the selling price hierarchy,
third-party evidence of selling price (“TPE”") wile considered if VSOE does not exist, and estimsd#ithg price (“ESP”) will be used if
neither VSOE nor TPE is available. Generally, tlien@any is not able to determine TPE as its satategly is customized to the needs of its
customers and the Company’s products and servieedissimilar to comparable products or servicatémarketplace. In determining ESP,
the Company applies significant judgment as it Weig variety of factors, based on the facts aruigistances of the arrangement. The
Company typically arrives at an ESP for a servizg is not sold separately by considering comparegiic factors such as geographies,
competitive landscape, and pricing practices usezstablish bundled pricing and discounting.

Warranties and Indemnification

The Company warrants to its customers that itsvew#t products will conform to documented specifaa for a limited period. The
Company has not experienced significant claimgedlto software warranties beyond the scope of tmaamce support, which it is already
obligated to provide, and consequently it has stitdished reserves for warranty obligations.

The Company’s agreements with customers geneidjyire it to indemnify the customer against clathet the Company’s software
infringes third party patent, copyright, trademarlother proprietary rights. Such indemnificatidsligations are generally limited in a variety
of industry-standard respects, including the Corgjzaright to replace an infringing product. As oé€mber 31, 2012, the Company had not
experienced any losses related to these indemtidficabligations and no claims were outstanding.

Deferred revenue

Deferred software license revenue typically resiutisn contractual billings for which all of the tafia to recognize revenue have not
been met. Deferred maintenance revenue repressiwaee license updates and product support castthat are typically billed in advance
and are recognized ratably over the support periddierred professional services revenue represavianced billings for consulting and
training services that are recognized as the ses\ace performed.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

The principal financial instruments held by the @amy consist of cash equivalents, marketable sésjraccounts receivable, and
accounts payable. The carrying value of theseunstnts approximates their fair value due to thearsmaturities. See Note 3 “Marketable
Securities” and Note 5 “Fair Value Measurementsftwther discussion of financial instruments thed carried at fair value on a recurring
basis.

(c) Derivative instruments

The Company uses foreign currency forward contrctsanage its exposures to changes in foreigeayrexchange rates associs
with its foreign currency denominated accountsiked®e, intercompany payables, and cash. The foreigrency forward contracts utilized by
the Company are not designated as hedging instiisraed as a result, the Company records the fhiewaf these contracts at the end of each
reporting period in its consolidated balance shsaither current assets for unrealized gains acrdied expenses for unrealized losses, with
any fluctuations in the value of these contract®gaized in other (expense) income net, in its clthsted statement of operations. The
fluctuations in the value of these foreign currefayvard contracts partially offset the gains amskkes from the remeasurement or settleme
the foreign currency denominated accounts recedyatiercompany payables, and cash held by thedp&ating company, thus partly
mitigating the volatility. Generally, the Compamyters into foreign currency forward contracts wéhms of 90 days or less.

(d) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Digghi@at and amortization are computed using thegitdine method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, which ametlgears for equipment and five years for furniand fixtures. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the lesser of the term of the le@atbe useful life of the asset. Repairs and maariee costs are expensed as incurred.

The Company capitalizes and amortizes certain tiests associated with computer software developgdirchased for internal use.
The Company amortizes capitalized software cogtergdly over three to five years commencing ondate the software is placed into service
During 2012 and 2011, the Company did not cap#adizy costs for computer software developed ferival use. During 2010, the Company
capitalized $0.7 million of computer software castgted to the Company’s implementation of an antiag system for internal use.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the residual purchase pricé jpaa business combination after all identifiededs and liabilities have been
recorded. Goodwill is not amortized, but prior e Company’s adoption of the Financial Accountitgn8ards Board “FASB” Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU") No. 2011-08|ntangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350)” (“ASW21-08") in the fourth quarter of 2011, was
tested annually in the fourth quarter for impairin@nbetween annual tests if indicators of potéitigairment exist. The Company performed
its qualitative assessment in accordance with ABLL208 in the fourth quarter of 2011 and 2012 asmtluded it was not more likely than not
that the fair value of its single reporting unitsatass than its carrying value. In 2010, the Corypmpared the carrying value of the repor
unit to its fair value. Had the reporting usitarrying value exceeded its fair value, the Cargpeould have recorded an impairment loss tc
extent that the carrying value of goodwill exceedsdmplied fair value. The Company performedaitsiual impairment evaluation in 2010
determined that goodwill was not impaired.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(f) Intangible Assets

All of the Company’s intangible assets are amodtiasing the straight-line method over their estedaiseful life. The Company
evaluates its intangible assets for impairment whenevents or changes in circumstances indicatehb carrying amount of such assets may
not be recoverable. Impairment is assessed by camgphe undiscounted cash flows expected to bemgded by the intangible asset to its
carrying value. If impairment exists, the Companjculates the impairment by comparing the carryialgie of the intangible asset to its fair
value as determined by discounted expected casis.flbhe Company has not recorded any impairme2®i?, 2011, or 2010.

(g) Research and development and software costs

Research and development costs are expensed akdhdDapitalization of computer software develofm@desale begins upon the
establishment of technological feasibility, genlgrdemonstrated by a working model or an operatemsion of the computer software product.
Such costs have not been material to date as tlegjical feasibility is established within a shanéframe from the software’s general
availability and, as a result, no costs were céipgd during 2012, 2011, or 2010.

(h) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsgm@ssociated with equity awards based on thedfaie of these awards at
the grant date. Stock-based compensation is repedjmiver the requisite service period, which isegelty the vesting period of the equity
award, and is adjusted each period for anticipiidditures. The Company recognizes stock-basecpensation using the ratable method,
which treats each vesting tranche as if it werendividual grant. See Note 14 “Stock-based Comptmsafor discussion of the Company’s
key assumptions included in determining the falugaf its equity awards at grant date.

(i) Acquisition-related costs

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as inclanedinclude direct and incremental costs associatdan impending or completed
acquisition. During 2011, the $0.5 million of acsjtion-related costs were primarily legal fees aigted with litigation assumed in our
acquisition of Chordiant Software, Inc. (“ChordignDuring 2010, the $5.9 million of acquisitiaoelated costs consisted of approximately ¢
million of due diligence costs and advisory andaldgansaction fees, approximately $0.8 milliorvafuation and tax consulting fees, $1.6
million of legal costs associated with the assuliiteghtion, and $0.4 million of integration and ethexpenses related to Chordiant.

() Restructuring costs

Restructuring costs include severance and relatadfl costs for the reduction of personnel duthysecond and third quarter of
2010 related to the Chordiant acquisition. Thep aiglude future lease payments and demising coetsyf estimated sublease income, for the
elimination of space within one facility. See Nate“Accrued Restructuring Costs” for further detail
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(k) Foreign currency translation

The translation of assets and liabilities for thaarty of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries isdeat period-end exchange rates,
while revenue and expense accounts are translated average exchange rates during the periodactions occurred. The resulting
translation adjustments are reflected in accumdlateer comprehensive income. The Company’s Ingdisigliary uses the U.S. dollar as its
functional currency, therefore, its monetary asaatliabilities are remeasured at current ratelsitsmon-monetary assets are recorded at
historical exchange rates. Realized and unreaézetiange gains or losses from transactions andasmement adjustments are reflected in
foreign currency transaction gain (loss), in theomepanying consolidated statements of operations.

() Accounting for Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets arilitiésbdue to temporary differences between thekband tax bases of recorded
assets and liabilities. Future realization of tleempany’s deferred tax assets ultimately dependh@existence of sufficient taxable income
within the available carryback or carryforward pels. Sources of taxable income include future salerof existing taxable temporary
differences, future taxable income, taxable incamarior carryback years, and tax planning straaegi he Company records a valuation
allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets tararuat it believes is more-likely-than-not to belized. Changes in the valuation allowance
impacts income tax expense in the period of adjestnThe Company’s deferred tax valuation allowamecgiires significant judgment and
uncertainties, including assumptions about futaxable income that are based on historical aneptegl information. The Company
recognizes excess tax benefits when they are egliarough a reduction in income taxes payableguie with and without stock option
method.

The Company assesses its income tax positionsemodds tax benefits based upon management’s eigaliadtthe facts,
circumstances, and information available at themépy date. For those tax positions where it iserikely-than-not that a tax benefit will be
sustained, the Company records the largest amduax dbenefit with a greater than 50 percent liketid of being realized upon ultimate
settlement with a taxing authority having full knedge of all relevant information. For those incatae positions where it is not more-likely-
than-not that a tax benefit will be sustained,aolienefit is recognized in the financial stateraefihe Company classifies liabilities for
uncertain tax positions as non-current liabilitisdess the uncertainty is expected to be resolntidnwone year. The Company classifies
interest and penalties on uncertain tax positienis@ome tax expense.

As a global company, the Company uses signifiaaagient to calculate and provide for income taresaich of the tax jurisdictions
in which it operates. In the ordinary course of business, there are transactions and calculatiotisrtaken whose ultimate tax outcome
cannot be certain. Some of these uncertainties ass consequence of transfer pricing for traisactvith the Company’s subsidiaries and
nexus and tax credit estimates. In addition, theutation of acquired tax attributes and the assed limitations are complex. See Note 15
“Income Taxes” for further information.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

3. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

(in thousands) December 31, 201
Unrealized
Amortized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Marketable securitie:
Municipal bonds $ 30,48¢ 48 (100 $ 30,52
Corporate bond 14,85! 83 (2 14,93¢
Marketable securitie $ 45,34 13: (120 $  45,46(
(in thousands) December 31, 201
Unrealized
Amortized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Marketable securitie:
Municipal bonds $ 27,96¢ 74 2 $ 28,04
Corporate bond 15,05¢ 1€ (39 15,04(
Government sponsored enterprise bc 8,001 2 (4) 7,99¢
Marketable securitie $ 51,02 9. (400 $ 51,07¢

The Company considers debt securities with maggritf three months or less when purchased, todkeezguivalents. Interest is
recorded when earned. All of the Company'’s investsiare classified as available-for-sale and amgechat fair value with unrealized gains
and losses recorded as a component of accumuldtedapmprehensive income, net of related incomesta

As of December 31, 2012, remaining maturities ofkatable debt securities ranged from January 20 J&muary 2015, with a
weighted-average remaining maturity of approximaidl months.

4. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company uses foreign currency forward contrcisanage its exposure to changes in foreign moyrexchange rates associated
with its foreign currency denominated accountsikad®e, cash and intercompany payables. The U.&atipg company invoices most of its
foreign customers in foreign currencies, which Itssa cash and receivables held at the end ofgperting period denominated in these
foreign currencies. Since the U.S. operating comisanctional currency is the U.S. dollar, the Gmany recognizes a foreign currency
transaction gain or (loss) on the foreign curredeyominated cash, intercompany payables and accoestivable held by the U.S. operating
company in its consolidated statements of operatigmen there are changes in the foreign currenclyaage rates versus the U.S. dollar. The
Company is primarily exposed to changes in theevalithe Euro and British pound relative to the .l@8lar. The foreign currency forward
contracts utilized by the Company are not desighatehedging instruments and as a result, the Quymeaords the fair value of these
contracts at the end of each reporting periodsicdnsolidated balance sheet as other currensdsseinrealized gains and accrued expenses
for unrealized losses, with any fluctuations in Wladue of these contracts recognized in other (es@eincome, net, in its consolidated
statement of operations. However, the fluctuatiarthe value of these foreign currency forward cacifs partially offset the gains and losses
from the remeasurement or settlement of the foreigrency denominated accounts receivable, intepemy payables, and cash held by the
U.S. operating company, thus partly mitigating tbéatility. Generally, the Company enters into fgrecurrency forward contracts with terms
not greater than 90 days.
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During 2012, the Company entered into and setthegidn currency forward contracts to sell €49.7ionland £52 million and receive
in exchange $145.4 million. During 2011, the Compentered into and settled foreign currency forwadtracts to sell €28.5 million and
£19.5 million and receive in exchange $71.4 milliés of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 20&1Ctimpany did not have any foreign
currency forward contracts outstanding. During 2Qfk& change in the fair value of the Comparfgreign currency forward contracts recon
in other (expense) income, net, was a loss of illlibn. During 2011, the change in the fair valfehe Company’s foreign currency forward
contracts recorded in other (expense) incomeweat,a gain $0.8 million.

5.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is an exit price, representing the arhthet would be received from the sale of an assptid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participantetham assumptions that market participants wouddmpricing an asset or liability. As a
basis for classifying the fair value measuremeatiyree-tier fair value hierarchy, which classifiles fair value measurements based on the
inputs used in measuring fair value, was estaldigtsefollows: (Level 1) observable inputs suchasted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities; (Level 2) significant ottedrservable inputs that are observable either dyreciindirectly; and (Level 3) significant
unobservable inputs in which there is little ormarket data, which requires the Company to devigdbopvn assumptions. This hierarchy
requires the Company to use observable market whtn available, and to minimize the use of unolsade inputs when determining fair
value. On a recurring basis, the Company recosdnirketable securities at fair value.

The Company’s investments classified within Levelf the fair value hierarchy are valued using qdaterket prices. The Compasy’
investments classified within Level 2 of the faslwe hierarchy are valued based on matrix pricovgpiled by third party pricing vendors,
using observable market inputs such as interess rgield curves, and credit risk.

The fair value hierarchy of the Company’s cash eajents and marketable securities at fair valwesifollows:

Fair Value Measurements ai

Reporting
Date Using
Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other
Markets for Observable
Identical Assets Inputs
(in thousands) December 31, 201 (Level 1) (Level 2)
Money market fund $ 2,87 $ 2,87 $ —
Marketable securitiet
Municipal bonds $ 30,52¢ $ 11,96¢ $ 18,56
Corporate bond 14,93¢ 14,93« —
Total marketable securiti¢ $ 45,46( $ 26,90( $ 18,56(
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Fair Value Measurements al

Reporting
Date Using
Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other
Markets for Observable
Identical Assets Inputs
(in thousands) December 31, 201 (Level 1) (Level 2)
Money market funds $ 3,06 $ 3,0€ $ —
Marketable securitie:
Municipal bonds $ 28,04( $ 6,11( $ 21,93
Corporate bond 15,04( 15,04( —
Government sponsored enterprise bc 7,99¢ 2,001 5,99¢
Total marketable securitit $ 51,07¢ $ 23,15; $ 27,92¢

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurringi

Assets recorded at fair value on a nonrecurringspbagch as property and equipment, and intangiédets are recognized at fair value
when they are impaired. During 2012, 2011, and 2€6#®Company did not recognize any impairmentgassets measured at fair value on «
nonrecurring basis.

6. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET OF ALLOWANCES

Unbilled trade accounts receivable relate to ses/&arned under time and material arrangementatenance and license
arrangements that had not been invoiced as of DeseBi, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.

December 31 December 31

(in thousands) 2012 2011
Trade accounts receivable $ 112,10¢ $ 77,128
Unbilled accounts receivab 22,92 22,09¢

Total accounts receivahb 135,02 99,21¢
Allowance for doubtful accoun — (32)
Allowance for sales credit mem (963) (895)

Total allowance (969) (926)

$ 134,06 $ 98,29

The Company records an allowance for estimatestefiial sales credit memos when the related revéntecorded and reviews this
allowance periodically. The following reflects thetivity of the allowance for sales credit memasdach of three years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2012 2011 2010

Balance at beginning of year $ 89t $ 1,027 $ 54(
Provision for credit memc 1,77: 2,87 3,05(
Credit memos issue (1,709 (3,009 (2,567)

$ 96. $ 89! $ 1,02
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7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

December 31 December 31

(in thousands) 2012 2011
Leasehold improvements $ 23,06t $ 12,77¢
Computer equipmet 11,718 8,951
Furniture and fixture 5,16( 3,49t
Computer software purchas 3,04¢ 3,18¢
Computer software developed for internal 721 721
Fixed assets in progre 161 451

43,87( 29,58:
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (13,049) (15,129
Property and equipment, r $ 30,82 $ 14,45

Depreciation and amortization expense was apprdrign&7.5 million, $6.1 million, and $4.3 milliofor the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.
8. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As discussed in Note 17 “Geographic Information Erajor Customers”, the Company operates in oneaijmgy segment, business
process solutions, and has one reporting unit.&vere no changes in the carrying amount of goddiwiing 2012 or 2011.

Intangible assets are recorded at cost and aretiaetbusing the straight-line method over theimeated useful life, which range from
four to nine years.

Accumulated

Net Book
(in thousands) Cost Amortization Value
December 31, 201.
Customer related intangibl $ 44,35! $ (13,14 $ 31,218
Technology 43,44¢ (16,439 27,01
Other intangible: 2,23¢ (2,239 4
Total $ 90,03¢ $ (31,80) $ 58,23.
December 31, 2011
Customer related intangibl $ 44,35! $ (8,219 $ 36,14:
Technology 43,44¢ (10,269 33,17%
Other intangible: 2,23¢ (2,187) 51
Total $ 90,03 $ (20,670 $ 69,36

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@® a6iortization expense of acquired intangibles ngflected in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations as follows:

(in thousands) 2012 2011 2010
Amortization expense
Cost of software licens $ 6,18 $ 6,28¢ $ 4,231
Selling and marketin 4,92¢ 4,92¢ 3,28¢
General and administrati 2C 10z 18E
Total amortization expen: $ 11,13 $ 11,31 $ 7,70:
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As of December 31, 2012, future estimated amoitinatxpense is as follows:
Future estimatec

amortization

(in thousands expense
2013 $ 11,09t
2014 9,48¢
2015 8,68¢
2016 8,68¢
2017 8,68¢
2018 and thereaftt 11,58

9. ACCRUED EXPENSES

December 31

December 31

(in thousands) 2012 2011
Other taxes $ 2,711 $ 2,75¢
Restructuring 441 62€
Professional fee 1,157 1,14¢
Income taxe: 1,167 1,95¢
Professional services partners f 25€ 12C
Shor-term deferred rer 1,111 1,42¢
Selfinsurance health and dental clai 1,707 1,931
Dividends payabl — 1,132
Employee reimbursable expen: 87¢ 897
Other 6,10¢ 6,34
$ 15,53 $ 18,33

10. DEFERRED REVENUE

December 31

December 31

(in thousands) 2012 2011
Software license $ 24,30: $ 15,00¢
Maintenance 62,14« 50,91¢
Professional service 9,09¢ 7,91¢
Current deferred revent 95,54¢ 73,84(
Software licens: 15,40° 13,53:
Maintenance 3,31z 1,83¢
Long-term deferred revent 18,71¢ 15,36
$ 114,26 $ 89,20
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11. ACCRUED RESTRUCTURING COSTS

During 2010, in connection with the Company’s imtipn plan of Chordiant, the Company recorded $6ilbon of severance and
related benefit costs, which were all paid by the ef the first quarter of 2012. Also, in connentigith the Company’s evaluation of its
combined facilities, the Company eliminated spathiwone facility and recognized $1.6 million @fstructuring expenses, representing futur
lease payments and demising costs, net of estinsatddase income for this space. The lease exgiithe end of 2013.

A summary of the restructuring activity during 202011, and 2010 is as follows:

(in thousands) Personnel Facilities Total
Balance as of April 21, 2010 $ — $ — $ —
Restructuring cosl 6,50 1,56: 8,06
Cash payment (3,749 (69) (3,819
Other (1) — 622 622
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 2,752 $ 2,115 $ 4,86¢
Restructuring cosl — (62 (62
Cash payment (2,509) (1,259 (3,769
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 242 $ 80C $ 1,04:
Cash payment (249 (359 (602)
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ — $ 441 $ 441
(1) Reflects the liability initially recorded foné acquired above market operating lease terntatsition, which was subsequently
restructured
As of As of
December 31 December 31
(in thousands) 2012 2011
Reported as
Accrued expense $ 44. % 62!
Other lon¢-term liabilities — 417

$ 441 $ 1,04

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments

On June 29, 2011, the Company entered into a lragegement for the Company’s new office headqraiteCambridge,
Massachusetts commencing on July 1, 2011 and tatimgnon December 31, 2023, subject to the Comamption to extend for two
additional fiveyear periods. Rental payments due under this @aagement total $75.8 million. The Company coneuoléts move to the ne
office headquarters in the third quarter of 201@ emased use of the former office space in thetaywarter of 2012 resulting in approximately
$0.2 million in lease exit costs. The remainingsh@illion of lease payments for this space willdzéd by the end of the second quarter of
2013.

The Company also leases space for its other offindsr non-cancelable operating leases that eapirarious dates through 2020.
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As of December 31, 2012, the Company’s future mimnrental payments required under operating leaghson-cancelable terms
in excess of one year were as follows:

(in thousands) Operating
For the calendar yea Leases

2013 $ 8,92

2014 9,07

2015 8,84:

2016 8,83¢

2017 8,19¢

2018 & Thereafte 46,98¢

$ 90,86«

Rent expense under operating leases is recognizadstraight-line basis to account for scheduled ircreases and landlord tenant
allowances. In connection with the Company'’s Idaséts new office headquarters, the Company hlasdlord tenant allowance totaling
approximately $8.4 million, all of which was usettlaeimbursed to the Company as of December 312 2ad will be amortized as a
reduction to rent expense on a straight-line bagés the term of the lease. Total rent expenserunpkerating leases was approximately $14.1
million, $11.4 million and $8.8 million for the yeaended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, regpkycti

Contingencies

The Company is a party in various other contradadisgutes, litigation and potential claims arisinghe ordinary course of business.
The Company does not believe that the resolutidhexde matters will have a material adverse effadts financial position or results of
operations.

13. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(a) Preferred stock

The Company has authorized 1,000,000 shares adrpeefstock, which may be issued from time to timene or more series. The
Board of Directors has the authority to issue theras of preferred stock in one or more seriesstablish the number of shares to be includec
in each series, and to fix the designation, powmeferences and rights of the shares of eachssamni@ the qualifications, limitations or
restrictions thereof, without any further vote atian by the stockholders. The issuance of prefiesteck could decrease the amount of ear!
and assets available for distribution to holdersasimon stock, and may have the effect of delaydedgrring or defeating a change in control
of the Company. The Company had not issued aneslumpreferred stock through December 31, 2012.

(b) Common stock

The Company has 100,000,000 authorized shareswhon stock, $0.01 par value per share, of whicB4%,000 shares were issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2012.

Since 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors hags@ped stock repurchase programs that have audtbtie Company to
repurchase in the aggregate up to $92.4 milliotsafommon stock. Purchases under these progravestigeen made on the open market.

60



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

The following table is a summary of the Compangpurchase activity under all of the Company’s repase programs for the years
ended December 31:

(Dollars in thousands) 2012 2011 2010

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Prior year authorizations at January 1, $ 13,96: $ 13,231 $ 15,77¢
Authorizations 6,03¢ 5,59( 5,75(
Repurchases pa 181,80: (5,230 137,42¢ (4,815  294,05¢ (8,272)
Repurchases unsettl 3,39¢ (76) 1,68¢ (49 53¢ (20
Authorized dollars remaining as of December $ 14,79 $ 13,96 $ 13,23

(c) Dividends

On May 30, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directgrgraved an ongoing quarterly cash dividend of $@€83share, beginning with
the second quarter ended June 30, 2006. The Congeatgred $0.12 per share for the year ended Desmedih 2012, but the Board of
Directors authorized the acceleration of the foguhrter dividend to be paid in December 2012 ratien in January 2013. Therefore, the
Company paid $5.7 million in dividends in 2012. foe years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, tmp&ty declared $0.12 per share and
paid cash dividends of $4.5 million, and $4.4 roillj respectively. It is the Company’s current iti@mto pay a quarterly cash dividend of
$0.03 per share, however, the Board of Directorg t@aninate or modify this dividend program at dimye without notice.

(d) Warrants summary

In January 2012, a former stockholder of 1mind @oapon (“1mind”) exercised a warrant to purchagks2 shares of our common
stock, which was originally issued as part of thasideration for our acquisition of 1mind in 2002accordance with the net exercise
provisions of this warrant, we withheld 78 sharbswr common stock to cover the exercise pricehefwarrant, which shares were valued at
$2,094 based on the average closing price of amnuan stock over the ten consecutive trading dagigron the third trading day prior to t
exercise date, and issued 2,386 shares of our carstnok. The issuance of these shares was mad#anae on an exemption from
registration under Regulation D under the Securidiet of 1933. As of December 31, 2012, there werevarrants outstanding.

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The majority of the Company’s stock-based compémsarrangements vest over either a four or fivar ywesting schedule and the
Company’s stock options have a ten-year term. Tdra@any recognizes stock-based compensation usingithble method, which treats each
vesting tranche as if it were an individual grant.

61



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

The Company periodically grants stock options awdricted stock units (“RSUs”) for a fixed numbésbares to employees and non-
employee Directors. The exercise price for stodioog is greater than or equal to the fair marledti® of the shares at the grant date. RSUs
deliver to the recipient a right to receive a sf)edinumber of shares of the Company’s common stipain vesting. Unlike stock options, there
is no cost to the employee at share issuance. dhg@ny values its RSUs at the fair value of its wam stock on the grant date, which is the
closing price of its common stock on the grant diates the present value of expected dividenddheasmployee is not entitled to dividends
during the requisite service period. Upon vestihthe RSUs, the Company withholds shares of comstock in an amount sufficient to cover
the minimum statutory tax withholding obligationsdassues shares of its common stock for the rangaammount.

Employees may elect to receive 50% of their tairgagntive compensation under the Company’s Corpdratentive Compensation
Plan (the “CICP”) in the form of RSUs instead o$lealf elected by an employee, the equity amouatjisal in value on the date of grant to
50% of his or her target incentive opportunity,dzhen the employee’s base salary. The number ofsRfgahted is determined by dividing
50% of the employee’s target incentive opportubigythe fair value of a RSU on the grant date.ét&dd, the award vests 100% on the CICP
payout date of the following year for all partiaia. Vesting is conditioned upon the performanaed@mns of the CICP and on continued
employment; if threshold funding does not occue, élquity grant will be cancelled. The Company ocd&rs vesting to be probable on the gran
date and recognizes the associated shased compensation expense over the requisitecegreiiod beginning on the grant date and endil
the vest date.

The Company grants options that allow for the setéint of vested stock options on a net share fasissettled stock options”),
instead of settlement with a cash payment (“cattfedestock options”). With net settled stock optpthe employee does not surrender any
cash or shares upon exercise. Rather, the Compidinlyohds the number of shares to cover the opti@rase price and the minimum statutory
tax withholding obligations from the shares thatidootherwise be issued upon exercise. The settieoferested stock options on a net share
basis results in fewer shares issued by the Company

Share-Based Compensation Plans:

(a) 1994 Long-term Incentive Plan

In 1994, the Company adopted a 1994 Long-Term ligeRlan (as amended in 2003, the “1994 Planfyrtivide employees,
Directors and consultants with opportunities tochaise stock through incentive stock options andquatified stock options. In addition to
options, participants under the 1994 Plan werebdtigo receive stock appreciation rights, restdicstock and long-term performance awards.
As of December 31, 2012, options to purchase areggte of approximately 80,000 shares of commatksiere outstanding under the 1994
Plan. The Company does not intend to issue anytiaddi options or make any other awards under #81 Plan in the future.

(b) 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan

In 1996, the Company adopted a 1996 Non-EmployeecRir Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan”), whiprovided for the grant to
non-employee Directors of the Company of optiongurchase shares of its common stock. All shartsaaed for issue under this plan have
been awarded. Beginning in July 2006, in lieu @fging fully vested options, the Company grantseshaf its common stock to its non-
employee directors under the 2004 Ldegm Incentive Plan, as described below. As of bdmr 31, 2012, options to purchase an aggreg:
approximately 50,000 shares of common stock wetstanding under the Director Plan.
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(c) Amended and Restated 2004 Long-Term IncentivanP

In 2004, the Company adopted a 2004 Long-Term lingeRlan (the “2004 Plan”) to provide employeem#mployee Directors and
consultants with opportunities to purchase stoctiutgh incentive stock options and non-qualifieadtktoptions. In addition to options, eligible
participants under the 2004 Plan may be grantezk gtorchase rights and other stock-based awardsilyr2011, the Company’s stockholders
approved the Pegasystems Inc. Amended and Re&@@dd_ong-term Incentive Plan (the “Restated 20@4'p, which provided for an
additional 5,000,000 authorized shares availabigifant under the plan and extended the term opfdre to 2021. Beginning in June 2006,
each member of the Company’s Board of Directorsépkthe Company’s Chairman and Chief Executivécexy is entitled to receive on an
annual basis a number of shares of common stodkhvels of March 2010 was equal to $70,000, dividethe fair market value of its
common stock on the grant date. As of Decembe2@12, approximately 4,333,000 shares were suljemtitstanding options and stobksec
awards under the Restated 2004 Plan.

(d) 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2006, the Company adopted a 2006 Employee Rackhase Plan (the “2006 ESPP”) pursuant to wiierCiompany’s employees
are entitled to purchase up to an aggregate 0080Ghares of common stock at a price equal teaat B5% of the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock on either the commencensptal completion date for offerings under the planichever is less, or such higher
price as the Company’s Board of Directors may distairom time to time. Until the Company’s Boarfiirectors determines otherwise, the
Board has set the purchase price at 95% of therfaiket value on the completion date of the offgperiod. As a result, the 2006 ESPP is nol
compensatory and is tax qualified. Therefore, aBaxfember 31, 2012, no compensation expense retagkdres issued under the plan had
been recognized. In October 2012, the Company’sdBofDirectors amended the term of the 2006 ESRAR that it will continue until there
are no shares remaining to be issued under theoplantil the plan is terminated by the Board ofdators, whichever occurs first. As of
December 31, 2012, approximately 119,000 sharebbad issued thereunder.

Shares reserve

As of December 31, 2012, there were approximatdlg8000 shares remaining for issuance for futqretg grants under the
Companys stock plans, consisting of approximately 3,736 88ares under the Restated 2004 Plan and apptekn382,000 shares under 1
2006 ESPP. There were no shares available forf@quity grants under the 1994 Plan or the Direetan.

Equity grants, assumptions and activity

During 2012, the Company issued approximately 383 ghares to its employees under the Company’edissed compensation
plans and approximately 12,000 shares to the ngriesme members of its Board of Directors.

The following table presents the stock-based comsgtgan expense included in the Company’s cons@atatements of operations
for the years ended December 31:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Stocl-based compensation expen
Cost of service $ 3,65¢ $ 2,731 $ 1,82¢
Operating expenst 7,85 6,29 4,92
Total stocl-based compensation before 11,50¢ 9,02¢ 6,74t
Income tax benefi (3,699) (2,859 (2,18
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Stock Options

The Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtigsing a Black-Scholes option valuation model Keuts used to estimate the
fair value of stock options include the exercisegof the award, the expected term of the optioe,expected volatility of the Company’s
common stock over the option’s expected term, idlefree interest rate over the option’s expecttht and the Company’s expected annual
dividend yield. The amount of stock-based compémsaecognized during a period is based on theevafithe awards that are ultimately
expected to vest. Forfeitures are estimated dirtieof grant and revised, if necessary, in subsegperiods if actual forfeitures differ from
those estimates. Ultimately, the Company recogritzesctual expense over the vesting period onlyhfe shares that vest. The weighted-
average grant-date fair value for stock optionsigein 2012, 2011, and 2010, was $9.43, $11.91 $4R2.22, respectively.

The weighted-average assumptions used in the BBatioles option valuation model are as follows ffigr years ended December 31:

2012 2011 2010
Expected volatility (1) 54% 45% 41%
Expected term in years ( 4.2 5.1 5.1
Risk-free interest rate (¢ 0.6%% 1.18% 1.65%
Expected annual dividend yield ( 0.52% 0.5¢% 0.71%

(1) The expected volatility for each grant is detiered based on the average of historical weeklyeprhanges of the Company’s common
stock over a period of time which approximatesdkpected option tern

(2) The expected option term for each grant isrd@teed based on the historical exercise behaviengfloyees and post-vesting
employment termination behavic

(3) The risk-free interest rate is based on th&yaézerocoupon U.S. Treasury securities for a period thabmmensurate with the expec
option term at the time of grat

(4) The expected annual dividend yield is basetherweightedaverage of the dividend yield assumptions usedtions granted during t
applicable period. The expected annual dividerzhised on the expected dividend of $0.12 per sharejear ($0.03 per share, per
quarter times 4 quarters) divided by the averageksprice.

The Company elected to adopt the alternative tiansinethod (“short cut method”) in calculating ithieistorical pool of windfall tax
benefits in regards to its share-based compensation

64



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

The following table summarizes the combined stqufiom activity under the Company’s stock optionnddor the year ended
December 31, 2012:

Weighted-
average
Shares Weighted- remaining Aggregate
(in average contractual intrinsic value
thousands) exercise price term (in years) (in thousands)
Options outstanding as of January 1, 2012 2,53 $ 15.4
Grantec 1,81¢ 22.8i
Exercisec (377 8.64
Forfeited/Cancelle: (82 27.1¢
Options outstanding as of December 31, 2 3,89 $ 19.3:
Vested and expected to vest as December 31, 3,30( $ 18.4¢ 6.7 $ 19,72
Exercisable as of December 31, 2( 1,63¢ $ 12.7¢ 3.8 $ 18,60¢

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options eised (i.e., the difference between the markeepaicexercise and the price paid by
the employee at exercise) in 2012, 2011, and 2040%$8.5 million, $19.4 million, and $23.8 milliarspectively. The aggregate intrinsic ve
of stock options outstanding and exercisable @&egkember 31, 2012 is based on the difference bettiweclosing price of the Company’s
stock of $22.68 on December 31, 2012 and the eseepmice of the applicable stock options.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had unrecedritock-based compensation expense related tothested portion of stock
options of approximately $13.3 million that is egfesl to be recognized as expense over a weighted@e period of approximately 2.6 years.

RSUs

The weighted-average grant-date fair value for R§tdated in 2012, 2011, and 2010 was $32.35, $3ar&7 $33.90, respectively.
The following table summarizes the combined RSWigtfor periodic grants and the CICP under thesfged 2004 Plan for the year ended
December 31, 2012:

Weighted-
Average Aggregate
Shares Grant-Date Intrinsic Value
(in thousands) Fair Value (in thousands)

Nonvested as of January 1, 2( 69(C $ 28.8:
Grantec 177 32.3¢
Vested (23¢) 26.91
Forfeited (64 30.8¢
Nonvested as of December 31, 2( 567 $ 31.1¢ $ 12,85¢
Expected to vest as of December 31, 2 40 $ 31.4 $ 9,23
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The RSUs associated with periodic grants vest fiveryears with 20% vesting after one year andrémeaining 80% vesting in equal
quarterly installments over the remaining four gedpproximately 52,000 RSUs granted in connectitth the 2012 CICP are expected to
vest 100% in March 2013.

The fair value of RSUs vested in 2012, 2011, artb2@as $7.1 million, $6.4 million, and $4.5 milliorespectively. The aggregate
intrinsic value of RSUs outstanding and expectedets as of December 31, 2012 is based on thengi@sice of the Company’s stock of
$22.68 on December 31, 2012.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had approgim&6.9 million of unrecognized stock-based congagion expense related to
all unvested RSUs that is expected to be recogragexkpense over a weighted-average period of appeitely 2.03 years.

15. INCOME TAXES

The components of income (loss) before provisi@ndiit) for income taxes are as follows for thergeanded December 31:

(in thousands) 2012 2011 2010

Domestic $ 20,49: $ 1,86 $ (13,69Y)

Foreign 10,44 8,95 7,49
Total income (loss) before provision (bene $ 30,94¢ $ 10,81: $ (6,19)

The components of the provision (benefit) for ineotaxes are as follows for the years ended DeceBiber

(in thousands) 2012 2011 2010
Current:
Federa $12,12¢ $ 11,69¢ $ (376
State 971 1,77¢ 29z
Foreign 2,142 2,501 1,352
Total current provisiol 15,24 15,97 1,26¢
Deferred:
Federa (4,759 (13,979 (4,627)
State (870 (2,209 2,48¢
Foreign (539 913 562
Total deferred benef (6,169 (15,269 (1,579
Total provision (benefit $ 9,07i $ 70E $ (300
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The effective income tax rate differed from thdstiary federal income tax rate due to the following

2012 2011 2010
Statutory federal income tax rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Valuation allowanct (3.0 3.C (37.2
Transaction cosl — — (10.7)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit anatadits (0.9 (4.€) 7.8
Permanent difference 1.7 5.4 (7.8
Domestic production activitie (3.9 (13.6€) —
Federal research and experimentation cre — (5.3 h.5
Tax effects of foreign activitie (2.7 1.7 14.1
Tax-exempt incom (0.2) (0.3 1.8
Provision to return adjustmer 0.€ 2.5 1.7
Non-deductible compensatic iz 3.C (2.2
Provision for uncertain tax positiol 2.8 (29.9) 2
Other (1.9 (0.6) (3.9
Effective income tax rat 29.% 6.1% 4.%

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax attributabtan effects of temporary differences betweenctreying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes ane thmounts used for income tax purposes. Significamponents of net deferred tax assets and
liabilities are as follows:

(in thousands) 2012 2011
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 61,24¢ $ 62,91¢
Accruals and reserv 16,52 14,95:
Software revenu 6,52¢ 7,02¢
Depreciatior 4,88 3,63t
Tax credit carryforward 4,91¢ 3,96¢
Other (32) 5
Total deferred tax asse 94,06: 92,49°
Less valuation allowance (12,129 (13,059
Net deferred tax asse $ 81,93t $ 79,44(
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangibles $  (22,44) (26,329
Total deferred tax liabilitie (22,447) (26,329
Net deferred income tax $ 59,49 $ 53,11:
Reported as
Current deferred tax ass $ 10,20: $ 9,82¢
Long-term deferred income tax ass 49,29: 43,28t
Total deferred income taxi $ 59,49 $ 53,11
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In 2010, the Company recognized approximately $hillon of federal net operating losses (“NOLsifd approximately $6 million
foreign NOLs from the Chordiant acquisition. Then@@any determined that it may utilize approximat&lp0.8 million of acquired Chordiant
federal and foreign NOLSs after application of apalile tax limitations impacting the annual useheflOLs. A valuation allowance is recor
on the deferred tax assets in excess of the NQlighiacoverable as a result of these limitatidie Company also recorded approximately
$2.5 million of deferred tax assets related to @eguChordiant state NOLSs.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had approgim&t1.39 million of federal NOLs, of which $113.2lion are available for us
subject to annual limitations through 2029. As ecBmber 31, 2012 the Company has $1.3 million fefrded tax asset related to state NOLs.

The Company records a valuation allowance for defetax assets when it is more-likely-than-not thatCompany will not realize
the entire benefit of the assets. This determinaiguires significant judgment, including assumsi about future taxable income that are
based on historical and projected information. $86 million net decrease in the valuation alloweadaring 2012 primarily relates to the
release of a $1.1 million valuation allowance poengly recorded against NOLs as a result of theratipn of their applicable statute, partially
offset by a $0.2 million valuation allowance receddhgainst certain state tax credits generatedglthie year. The $0.3 million increase in the
valuation allowance during 2011 relates to a vaduedllowance recorded against certain state teditsr generated during the year and certain
capital losses that the Company will not be abletilize.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had avaitb®l@ million of state tax research and experimémat'R&E”) credits and $0.5
million of investment tax credits expiring in thears 2013 through 2027.

The Company'’s India subsidiary is a developmentaren an area designated as a Special Economie Z&&Z"), and is entitled to
tax holiday in India. The tax holiday reduces amébates income tax in that country and expire2082. For the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010, the effect of the incoméntaiday was to reduce the overall income tax priovidy approximately $0.5 million, $0.3
million, and $0.4 million, respectively.

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreignssdiaries amounted to approximately $36.6 millisrodDecember 31, 2012. The
Company has not provided any additional federatate income taxes or foreign withholding taxestenundistributed earnings as such
earnings have been indefinitely reinvested in tingifess. It is impractical to estimate the amotitd.&. tax the Company could have to pay
upon repatriation due to the complexity of the fgnetax credit calculations and because the Compangiders its earnings permanently
reinvested.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending baksof the total amounts of gross unrecognized ¢aefits is as follows:

(in thousands) 2012 2011 2010

Balance as of January 1, $ 25,31 $ 20,26¢ ) 4,44;
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 3,85¢ 7,231 54
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 96¢ 3 1€
Additions for acquired uncertain tax bene — — 16,67(
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei (3,819 (2,18%) (916
Balance as of December : $ 26,31 $ 2531 § 20,26
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As of December 31, 2012, the Company had approgimn&®6.3 million of total unrecognized tax bergfibf which $16 million
would decrease the Compasgffective tax rate if recognized. However, apprately $9.2 million of these unrecognized tax Hiseelate tc
acquired NOLs and research tax credits, which abgest to limitations on use. The Company expédws the changes in the unrecognized
benefits within the next twelve months will be ampgmately $0.6 million, all of which relate to tlespiration of applicable statute of limitatic
and would reduce the Company’s effective tax ratedlized.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, &) #te reductions for tax positions of prior yeaese related to the lapse in the
applicable statute of limitations for the Compangs years 2007 and earlier.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201Qdimpany recognized interest expense of approxiyn@@el million and
$44,000, respectively. For the year ended Dece®be2011, the Company recognized a reduction ef@st expense of approximately $0.4
million. For the years ended December 31, 2012128ad 2010, the Company did not recognize anyifgignt penalties. As of December 31,
2012 and 2011, the Company had accrued approxiyrs@el million and $0.6 million, respectively, fmterest and penalties.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.$l iarforeign jurisdictions. Generally, the Compasyo longer subject to U.S.
federal, state, or local, or foreign income taxmixations by tax authorities for the years befd8& With few exceptions, the statute of
limitations remains open in all other jurisdictidias the tax years 2008 to the present.

16. NET EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic net earnings (loss) per share is computed)ube weighted-average number of common sharssamaling during the period.
Diluted net earnings per share is computed usiegvifighted-average number of common shares outstaddring the period, plus the
dilutive effect of outstanding options, warrantsgdd&SUs, using the treasury stock method and tbeage market price of our common stock
during the applicable period. Certain shares rdladesome of our outstanding stock options, wasrand RSUs were excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share becawesewere antidilutive in the periods presented,dould be dilutive in the future.

Year Ended December 31

(in thousands, except per share amount: 2012 2011 2010
Basic
Net income (loss $ 21,86¢ $ 10,10¢ $ (5,89)
Weightec-average common shares outstanc 37,85 37,49 37,03
Net earnings (loss) per share, bz $ 0.5¢ $ 0.2i $ (0.1¢)
Diluted
Net income (loss $ 21,86¢ $ 10,10¢ $ (5,89)
Weightec-average common shares outstanc 37,85: 37,49¢ 37,03:
Weightec-average effect of dilutive securitie
Stock options and warrar 777 1,612 —
RSUs 22¢ 29¢€ —
Effect of assumed exercise of stock options, wasrand RSU: 1,00¢ 1,90¢ —
Weightec-average common shares outstanding, assuming di 38,85¢ 39,40« 37,03:
Net earnings (loss) per share, dilu $ 0.5¢€ $ 0.2¢€ $ (0.1¢)
Outstanding options, warrants and RSUs excludéchpact would be

antidilutive 62 32 3,77¢
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17. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Operating segments are defined as componentseaitarprise about which separate financial infororats available that is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision maker@@M”) in deciding how to allocate resources andgsessing performance.

The Company develops and licenses its softwardigniiand provides consulting services, maintengame training related to its
software. The Company derives substantially aitsofevenue from the sale and support of one gofigimilar products and services—
software that provides business process solutiottsel enterprise applications market. The Comma@DDM is its Chief Executive Officer.
assess performance, the Company’s CODM primanilieves financial information on a consolidated ba$tserefore, the Company has
determined it operates in one segment—businesggs@Emlutions.

The Company’s international revenue is from salesustomers based outside of the U.S. The Comparived its operating revenue
from the following geographic areas for the yeardezl December 31:

(Dollars in thousands) 2012 2011 2010

u.S. $ 250,02 5% $ 216,36 52% $ 199,86 59%

United Kingdom 87,13¢ 1% 94,33¢ 23% 59,57 18%

Europe, othe 69,89¢ 15% 70,99( 17% 47,05( 14%

Other 54,65¢ _12% 34,98: 8% 30,11¢ 9%
$ 461,71( 100% $ 416,67 10(% $ 336,59¢ 100%

Long-lived assets related to the Company’s U.S.iareinational operations as of December 31 weffelksvs:

(Dollars in thousands) 2012 2011

uU.S. $ 22,69 73% $ 9,62 67%

India 5,461 18% 2,391 16%

International, othe 2,67 9% 2,44 _17%
$ 30,82; 100% $ 14,45 100%

There were no customers accounting for 10% or rabtee Companys total revenue in 2012, 2011, and 2010. Thereomascustome
that accounted for 10% or more of the Companyddanaceivables, net, as of December 31, 2012 abd, 28 listed below. The Company’s
financial services, healthcare and insurance custeals a group represent a significant amounteo€ttmpany’s revenues and receivables.
However, the Company determined this concentratidmot have a material impact on its allowancesifmibtful accounts and sales credit
memos as of December 31, 2012.

(Dollars in thousands) 2012 2011
Trade receivables, net of allowances $134,06¢ $98,29:
Customer A 1C0% 14%

Marketable securities are another financial insentrthat potentially subject the Company to a cotre¢ion of credit risk. See Note 3
“Marketable Securities” and Note 5 “Fair Value Measments” for further discussion.
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribugtinement plan for qualifying employees pursuanivhich the Company makes
discretionary matching profit sharing contributio@®mpany contributions under the plan totaled exiprately $2.8 million in 2012, $2.5
million in 2011, and $2.0 million in 2010. In addit, the Company has defined contribution plangfaalifying international employees and
contributions expensed under those plans totalpbapnately $3.2 million in 2012, $2.1 million ir021, and $1.2 million in 2010.

19. SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

2012
(in thousands, except per share amount: 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
Revenue $ 11116 $ 10505 $ 101,65 $ 143,83
Gross profit 69,63! 65,06¢ 63,99: 105,63¢
Income (loss) from operatiol 5,91¢ (2,689 401 27,79(
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for incotares 5,931 (3,169 32 28,15(
Net income (loss 4,05 (2,267) (331) 20,40¢
Net earnings (loss) per share, bz $ 0.11 $ (0.06) $ (0.0)) $ 0.54
Net earnings (loss) per share, dilu $ 0.1C $ (0.06) $ (0.0)) $ 0.5¢
2011
(in thousands, except per share amount: 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
Revenue $ 102,36 $ 103,51 $ 9550 $ 115,29
Gross profit 62,34« 63,12: 53,69: 72,72(
Income (loss) from operatiol 5,56¢ 3,23¢ (2,009 3,70¢
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for incotares 6,69 3,331 (2,45)) 3,23¢
Net income (loss 4,731 2,27: 4,95¢ (1,85%)
Net earnings (loss) per share, bz $ 0.12 $ 0.0¢€ $ 0.12 $ (0.0%)
Net earnings (loss) per share, dilu $ 0.12 $ 0.0€ $ 0.12 $ (0.05)
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ITEM 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedwwe

Our management, with the participation of our Cligécutive Officer, or CEO, and Chief Financial ioéf, or CFO, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procesi(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15{@¢nthe Securities Exchange Act) as of
December 31, 2012. In designing and evaluatingd@alosure controls and procedures, our manageraeagnized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and opraée provide only reasonable assurance of acigeheir objectives, and our
management necessarily applied its judgment inuetialg the cost-benefit relationship of possiblatomls and procedures. Based on this
evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that ourl@isece controls and procedures were effective &eckmber 31, 2012.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over f@ncial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahg@aorting, as such term is
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) underSeeurities Exchange Act. Under the supervisionwitit the participation of our
management, including our CEO and CFO, we conduateslvaluation of the effectiveness of our integuadtrol over financial reporting bas
on the framework itnternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifriee Treadway
Commission (“COSO").

Our internal control over financial reporting indks policies and procedures that pertain to theteénce of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleahsactions and dispositions of assets, provid®nedde assurances that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ofidiahstatements in accordance with U.S. genesaltepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures are being made in accoedaith authorizations of our management and Borscand provide reasonable assuranc
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauited acquisitions, use or disposition of our as#ieht could have a material effect on our
financial statements.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting as of Det®mn31, 2012. Based on this
evaluation, our management concluded that we maedeaeffective internal control over financial refiog as of December 31, 2012, based or
criteria inInternal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the COSO.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registerabdlig accounting firm which also audited our cotdated financial statements,
has issued an attestation report on our internatabover financial reporting, which is included page 42 in Item 8 Financial Statements anc
Supplementary Data.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repting.

There have been no changes in our internal coowenl financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13¢fland 15d-15(f) under the
Securities Exchange Act) during the quarter endedenhber 31, 2012 that have materially affectedsereasonably likely to materially affe
our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B.  Other Information

None.
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ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Goverance

Except as set forth below, the information requingdhis Item is contained in our proxy statememtdur 2013 annual stockholders
meeting (the “2013 proxy statement”) under the hegatElection of Directors,” and is incorporatedréim by reference. Information relating to
certain filings on Forms 3, 4, and 5 is containedur 2013 proxy statement under the heading “8edtb(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance,” and is incorporated herein by refegemeformation required by this item pursuant &is 407 (c) (3), 407(d) (4), and 407(d)
(5) of Regulation S-K relating to an audit comnetfenancial expert, the identification of the auctimmittee of our Board of Directors and
procedures of security holders to recommend normsiteeur Board of Directors is contained in the2@foxy statement under the heading
“Corporate Governance” and is incorporated hergirefference.

We have adopted a written code of conduct thati@ppd our Board of Directors and all of our empey, including our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, pdipal accounting officer, or persons performinmmikir functions. A copy of our code of cond
can be found on our website, www.pega.coMe intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementder Item 5.05 of Form 8-K and under the
applicable the NASDAQ Global Select Market rulespmgting such information on our website in accoogawith such requirements.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The names of our executive officers and certaiarinfition about them are set forth below as of Fafyra, 2013:

Alan Trefler,age 56, a founder of Pegasystems, serves as Ctaefifive Officer and Chairman and has been a Qiresthce we
organized in 1983. Prior to 1983, he managed ariretdc funds transfer product for TMI Systems Guogtion, a software and services
company. Mr. Trefler holds a B.A. degree in Econmyand Computer Science from Dartmouth College.

Craig Dynes age 57, joined Pegasystems in September 2008iasfknancial Officer and Senior Vice President. Mynes also
served as the Company'’s principal accounting afficen November 2007 until May 2008. On Novembe2®12, Mr. Dynes notified the
Company that he intends to resign from his positieith the Company. His responsibilities as ChiefRcial Officer end effective with the
filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. From 2Dfb 2006, Mr. Dynes served as Chief Financial €@ffiat Demandware, a venture-backed
enterprise software firm. From 2003 to 2004, MrnBy served as President and CEO of Narad Netwarksnufacturer of equipment for the
cable television industry. From 1997 to 2002, MynBs served as Chief Financial Officer of Silvee8m Software, Inc., an application
development software company. Prior to SilverStredm Dynes held senior financial positions at S3dénc. and Powersoft Corp. Mr. Dynes
is a graduate of the Richard Ivey School of Businrsdministration, the University of Western Ontaaiad is a Canadian Chartered Accoun

Efstathios Kouninis age 51, joined Pegasystems in April 2008 as Vice Presidéfinance. In May 2008, the Board of Directors
appointed Mr. Kouninis as the Company’s Chief Aauting Officer. From February 2006 to April 2008, .NKouninis served as Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer of Tasker Prod@zisporation, a publicly traded manufacturer of mittrobial chemicals. From November
2004 to February 2006, Mr. Kouninis served on ttedf®f the Division of Corporation Finance of tbe S. Securities and Exchange
Commission. Mr. Kouninis holds a Post Baccalaureafsccounting, a M.S. in taxation from Bentley &gle, and a B.S. from the University
of Massachusetts.
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Douglas Kraage 50, joined Pegasystems in November 2004 as Vice Presidéslobal Services. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Keaved
as Vice President at eLoyalty Corp., a consultiomgpany specializing in customer relationship mansgg. From 2000 to 2001, Mr. Kra
served as President of Zefer Corp., an internefwting firm. Prior to Zefer, Mr. Kra spent ten yeat Cambridge Technology Partners Inc. ir
a variety of senior roles. He holds a B.A. in ComapiBcience from Brandeis University and an M.BrAfinance from the New York
University Stern School of Business.

Michael Pyle, age 58 joined Pegasystems in 1985 and has served as Séo@President of Product Development since August
2000. Including his positions with Pegasystems, Rjte’s professional background encompasses altiotst years of software development
and managerial experience throughout Europe and tBeMr. Pyle completed his B.C.S. specializingwmputer Science and Systems
Programming at the Civil Service College in London.

Leon Treflerage 52, joined Pegasystems in April 1998 as an émicBxecutive for Strategic Business DevelopmeinicéSthen he he
held various senior sales management positionssithe Company and in Channel Sales. In 2002 umelteed the commercialization of PRI
From April 2007 to January 2010, Mr. Trefler senasdVice President of Sales, North America ancaitudry 2010, Mr. Trefler was promoted
to Senior Vice President of Sales. Mr. Trefler lscddB.A. degree from Dartmouth College.

Alan Trefler and Leon Trefler are brothers. Thener@o other family relationships among any of oxgaeitive officers or Directors.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensatior

The information required by this item is contairiedhe 2013 proxy statement under the headingsetiiir Compensation”,
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis”, and “Exeeu€ompensation” and is incorporated herein bgnegice.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

Information required by this item with respect tock ownership of certain beneficial owners and aggment is contained in the 2(
proxy statement under the heading “Security OwriprshCertain Beneficial Owners and Management” snidcorporated herein by
reference.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides certain informationtfvrespect to our equity compensation plans incetis of December 31, 2012:

(In thousands, except per shar
amounts) (@) (b) c
Number of shares
of
Common stock
Remaining available

Number of shares of Weighted-average
common stock to be exercise price per share (
issued upon exercise For future issuance
of outstanding outstanding (excluding those in
stock options and vesting of RSUs ( stock options (4) Column (@) (5)

Equity compensation plans

approved by stockholder:

@) 4,397 $ 19.21 4,11¢
Equity compensation plans

not approved by

stockholders (2 66 $ 26.0¢ —
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(1)

(2)

(3)

Our equity compensation plans include the Aneenaind Restated 1994 Long-Term Incentive Plan“{td84 Plan”), the 1996 Non-

Employee Director Stock Option Plan (the “Dired®tan”), the Amended and Restated 2004 Long-Terreritiee Plan (the “Restated
2004 Plan™), and the 2006 Employee Stock Purchised amended, (the “2006 ESPP”). Our stockholgiengously approved each of
these plans and all amendments that were subjstbdkholder approval. In addition to the issuamnfcgtock options, the 1994 Plan
allowed for the issuance of stock appreciationtsgtestricted stock, and long-term performancerdsva he Company does not intend to
issue any additional options or make any other dsvander the 1994 Plan or the Director Plan irfubgre. In addition to the issuance of
stock options, the Restated 2004 Plan allows figiuance of stock purchase rights and other $taskd awards, including RSUs. See
Note 14"Stock-Based Compensation” included in the notethéoaccompanying audited consolidated financakstents for further
information and description of our equity compeisaplans.

These stock options were assumed in connegtithnour acquisition of Chordiant and were origlgaranted under the Chordiant
Software, Inc. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the “80®lan”), the Chordiant Software, Inc. 2000 Nongtatty Equity Incentive Plan (the
“2000 Plan”), the Chordiant Software, Inc. Amended Restated 1999 Non-Employee Director Stock @tian (the “1999 Director
Plan™), and the Prime Response Group, Inc. 1998kSiptions/Stock Issuance Plan (the “1998 PrimepBese Plan”) (collectively, the
“Chordiant Plans”). No additional awards were oyrba granted under the Chordiant Plans followirggdhate of acquisition. These plans
were not approved by our stockholders since thay wdopted at the date of acquisition. In connaatigh our acquisition of Chordiant,
all outstanding equity awards issued under the @iaot Plans with an exercise price of $6.00 or lowere assumed by us and converte
into the right to receive 0.13 shares of Pegasyst@ymmon stock for every one share of Chordiantrcomstock covered by such
awards. All other outstanding equity awards issureder the Chordiant Plans were cancel

The 2005 Plan was approved by Chordiastockholders and provided for the grant of ineengtock options, nonstatutory stock optic
stock purchase awards, RSAs, RSUs and other fofeguity compensation. Awards granted under thésZ®@@n generally expire four
ten years after the grant date and generally beexmeeisable over a period of two to four yearshwither yearly or monthly vesting.
The 2000 Plan provided for the grant of nonstagyusbock options, restricted stock and stock bontsesnployees. Generally, awards
under the 2000 Plan vest over a period of fourgeaequal monthly installments with 25% of thersisavesting after one year, and the
remainder vesting in equal monthly installmentsrafie remaining three years. The 1999 Director Blawided directors to be issued a
single grant at each year’s annual meeting of tinekbolders equal to a number of shares of resttistock equal to $100,000 divided by
the fair market value of Chordiasttommon stock on the date of the annual meetingsd shares of restricted stock generally veshe
earlier of the next Chordiant annual meeting ofveenonths from the date of grant. The 1998 Primsf®nse Plan provided for the
grant of stock options, common stock and stock besdo employees, non-employee directors, and ttantior other independent
advisors who provided service to Prime Responserdsvgranted under this plan had a maximum expiratf ten years.

The number of shares of common stock issued egercise of vested stock options and vestingSiiRwill be less than 4,463,000
because of the “net settlement” feature of moshese stock options and RSUs. This feature enéidesmployee to satisfy the cost to
exercise (in the case of stock options) and, ifiagple, taxes due (in the case of stock optiomsR8Us) by surrendering shares to the
Company based on the fair value of the sharesatxtbrcise date (in the case of stock optionsgsting date (in the case of RSUs),
instead of selling all of the shares on the operketdo satisfy these obligations. The settleménested stock options and vested RSUs
on a net share basis will result in fewer sharesad by the Company. During 2012, stock optionR8d holders net settled stock
options and RSUs representing the right to purchaséal of 548,000 shares, of which only 319,0@denissued to the stock option and
RSU holders and the balance of the shares wererslered to the Company to pay for the exercise il the applicable taxe
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(4) The weighted-average exercise price does Retitdo account the shares issuable upon vestiogtstanding RSUs, which have no
exercise price

(5) Includes approximately 382,000 shares remainingable for issuance as of December 31, 2012 uriteeR006 ESPF

ITEM 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transadbns, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is contairiedhe 2013 proxy statement under the headingsta@eRelationships and Related
Transactions” and “Determination of Independenc®t & incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service
The information required by this item is contairiedhe 2013 proxy statement under the heading ‘hieddent Registered Public
Accounting Firm Fees and Services” and is incoral&erein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
(a) The following are filed as part of this AnniRéport on Form 10-K:
(1) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statementsiamduded in Item 8:

Page
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&012011 43
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeded December 31, 2012, 2011, and - 44
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomss{Lfor the years ended December 31, 2012, 20@12@1C 45
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2012, 28dd 201( 46
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ye@iled December 31, 2012, 2011, and = 47

(b) Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immedigtereceding such exhibits are filed as part of A&nsual Report on Form 10-K.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted bseahe required information is not present or mesent in sufficient amounts to require
submission of the schedule or because the infoomagireflected in the consolidated financial stegats or notes thereto.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d)f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regiaht has duly caused this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its beHaby the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PEGASYSTEMS INC

B /s CRAIG DYNES
Y

Craig Dynes
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Office
(principal financial officer)
(duly authorized officer)

Date: February 20, 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K &s been signed below on
February 20, 2013 by the following persons on beHabf the Registrant and in the capacities indicated

Signature Title
/s/ ALAN TREFLER Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
Alan Trefler (principal executive officer
/sl CRAIG DYNES Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Craig Dynes (principal financial officer’
/s/ EFSTATHIOS KOUNINIS Vice President of Finance and Chief Accounting €fi
Efstathios Kouninis (principal accounting officel
/s/ RICHARD JONES ) ) )
Richard Jones Vice Chairman and Directc
/s PETER GYENES )
Peter Gyenes Director
/s STEVEN KAPLAN )
Steven Kaplan Director
/s/ JAMES O'HALLORAN )
James O’Halloran Director
/sl LARRY WEBER )
Larry Weber Director
/s/ WILLIAM WYMAN )
William Wyman Director
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Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Marct2@40, by and among Pegasystems Inc., Maple Leafiition Corp.
and Chordiant Software, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit & the Registrant’s March 15, 2010 Form 8-K anaiporated herein by
reference.

Restated Articles of Organization of the Registeamd Amendment there

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Pegasystems Iled(&$ Exhibit 99.3 to the Registrant’s April 1080Form 8-K and
incorporated herein by referenc

Specimen Certificate Representing the Common S{édled as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Registra Statement on
Form &1 (Registration No. 3:-03807) or an amendment thereto and incorporatezirhby reference.

Amended and Restated 1994 Long-Term Incentive PRaled in the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for2®3 annual
stockholders meeting and incorporated herein lgreetce.

1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. @ile the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for its 2806ual stockholders
meeting and incorporated herein by referer

Lease Agreement dated February 26, 1993 betwedRdbistrant and Riverside Office Park Joint Vent(@ifded as Exhibit
10.13 to the Registrant’s Registration Statemerffanm S-1 (Registration No. 333-03807) or an amesrttrthereto and
incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 1 to Lease Agreement dated Auglst994 between the Registrant and Riverside ©ffiark Joint
Venture. (Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the RegistraRegistration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration333-03807) or an
amendment thereto and incorporated herein by meder§

Amendment Number 8 to Lease Agreement dated Jyl2@12 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfror@ L{Filed as
Exhibit 10.23 to the Registre’s 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Letter Amendment to Lease Agreement dated JulB302 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfront L(E@ed as Exhibi
10.24 to the Registre’s 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amended and Restated 2004 Long-Term Incentive eiated May 18, 2011 (Filed as Appendix A within Begistrant’s
2011 Proxy Statement, filed May 23, 2011 and inocafed herein by referenci

Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement, as amendedecember 15, 2009. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8 toRegistrant’s
2009 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, as amermfeBecember 15, 2009. (Filed as Exhibit 10.9 soRegistrant’s 2009
Form 1(-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreeméhiled as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Segter 30, 2004 Form
1C-Q and incorporated herein by referent

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Dougl&gd. dated October 19, 2004. (Filed as Exhibit 1a®the Registrant’s
2004 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement. (Filad Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s April 11, 200&m 8-K and
incorporated herein by referenc

Compensation program for members of the Regissdtard of Directors, effective May 30, 2006. (Dlethin Registrant’s
June 5, 2006 Form-K and incorporated herein by referenc
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Description

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Craig An&ydated September 7, 2006. (Filed as Exhibit t@t2e Registrant’s
September 12, 2006 Forr-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 10 to Lease Agreement dated 3ylg@6 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfrau@.L(Filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registre’s September 30, 2006 Form-Q and incorporated herein by referens

Amendment to Stock Option Agreement between thesRegt and Richard H. Jones dated December 2%.ZB0ed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registre’s January 4, 2007 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 11 to Lease Agreement dated &snaf 11, 2008 between the Registrant and NOP RiverfLC.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registr's June 30, 2008 Form -Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Form of Tender and Voting Agreement by and amorgpBgstems Inc., Maple Leaf Acquisition Corp. arglitidividuals
listed on the signatures pages thereto, dated isuath 14, 2010 (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Regig’'s March 15, 2010
Form ¢-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2011 Section 16 Officer/FLT Member Corporate InsenCompensation Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 ®Registrant’s
March 2, 2011 Form-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2011 Section 16 Executive Officers Base SalariesTarget Bonus Payments. (Filed as Exhibit 99 th¢oRegistrant’s
March 2, 2011 Form-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Lease Agreement, dated June 29, 2011 between GliRatk One, LLC and Pegasystems Inc. for premis@s@ Charles
Park (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Regist’s Form -K/A filed on July 6, 2011 and incorporated hereyrréference.

2012 Section 16 Officer/FLT Member Corporate InsesnCompensation Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 ®Registrant’s
February 22, 2012 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2012 Section 16 Executive Officers Base SalariesTarget Bonus Payments. (Filed as Exhibit 99 th¢oRegistrant’s
February 22, 2012 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amendedtohed@5, 2012

Subsidiaries of the Registra

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourting—Deloitte & Touche LLP

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Executive Office

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Financial Office

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 135thef Chief Executive Officer and the Chief FinahC#ficer.
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Exhibit No. Description

101.INS** XBRL Instance documen

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Docume
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Docume

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum:

++ Management contracts and compensatory plan orgeamnaents required to be filed pursuant to Item 16{Horm 1(-K.
+  Filed herewitt

**  Submitted electronically herewi

Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are thedfelhg formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business RepaytLanguage): (i) Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2012 and Dec&hp2011, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Openatior the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, (iii) Consol@i&mtements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) foy¢laes ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010, (iv) Consolidated StatemdrBarkholders’ Equity (v) Consolidated Statemeit€ash Flows for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, and (¥@sNo Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRlated information in Exhibit 101 to this Annualg®et on Form 1K is deemed n¢
filed or part of a registration statement or prasps for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the SiesiAct of 1933 or Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwise atesubject to liability.
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Exhibit 3.1
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
William Francis Galvin

Secretary of the Commonwealth
One Ashburton Place
Boston, Massachusetts 02108-1512

PEGASYSTEMS INC.

RESTATED ARTICLES OF ORGANIZATION
(Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 156D, Setfid@}Y; 950 CMR 113.35)

Pegasystems Inc. (the “Corporation”) certifiesakws:

(1) The exact name of the Corporation is Pegasystam

(2) The registered office address of the Corponaigal01 Main Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts?214
(3) These Restated Articles of Organization wergpéetl on June 2, 2005.

(4) These Restated Articles of Organization weggrayed by the Board of Directors and by the shddshe of the Corporation in the
manner required by G. L. Chapter 156D and the Kediof Organization.

(5) The Corporation’s Articles of Organization asemded and restated hereby are as follows:
ARTICLE |

The exact name of the corporation is Pegasystems In
ARTICLE Il

The corporation may engage in any lawful business.

ARTICLE Il

The total number of shares and par value, if ahgach class of stock which the corporation is axitled to issue is 70,000,000 share:s
of Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share (therf@on Stock”), and 1,000,000 shares of PreferredkS®0.01 par value per share (the
“Preferred Stock”).



ARTICLE IV

If more than one class or series of stock is aithdy the preferences, limitations, and relatights of each class or series are as
follows:

1. Common Stock The Corporation shall have authority to issu®@0,000 shares of Common Stock. The rights, pgeite
preferences and voting powers of the Common Stoeks follows:

a.Dividend Rights Subject to the prior rights of holders of allsdas of stock at the time outstanding having pigiits as to
dividends, the holders of the Common Stock shaéitéled to receive, when and as declared by therdBof Directors, out of any assets of the
corporation legally available therefor, such divide as may be declared from time to time by tha@o&Directors.

b. Liquidation Rights Subject to the prior rights of holders of allsdas of stock at the time outstanding have priftsion
liquidation, upon the liquidation, dissolution omding up of the corporation, the assets of thgpamation shall be distributed ratably among
holders of the Common Stock in proportion to thenbar of shares of Common Stock held by each suldeho

c. Voting Rights The holder of each share of Common Stock shak liae right to one vote, and shall be entitleddtice of any
shareholders meeting in accordance with the By-lafte corporation, and shall be entitled to ugten such matters and in such manner as
may be provided by law.

d. Increase in Authorized Common Stodkhe number of authorized shares of Common StankIme increased or decreased (but not
below the number of shares of Common Stock thestauding) by an affirmative vote of the holdersaohajority of the outstanding capital
stock of the corporation outstanding and entitteddte thereon, voting as a single class.

2. Preferred StockThe Corporation shall have the authority to issi0,000 shares of undesignated Preferred Stbekshares of
undesignated Preferred Stock may be issued fromtinime in one or more series as the Board aéddirs may determine. Each series shall
be so designated to distinguish the shares thén@uofthe shares of all other series and classe=eifas to the relative preferences, powers,
qualifications, rights and privileges referred &ldw, in respect of any or all of which there mayuariations between different series, all st
of Preferred Stock shall be identical. Differentiesg of Preferred Stock shall not be construedittsttute different classes of shares for the
purpose of voting by classes.

The Board of Directors is expressly authorizedjexttto the limitations prescribed by law and thevisions of these Restated Articles of
Organization, to provide by adopting a vote or sptecertificate of which shall be filed in accarda with the Massachusetts Business
Corporation Act, for the issuance of the Prefe®éatk in one or more series, each with such desmrsa
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preferences, voting powers, qualifications, spemiaklative rights and privileges as shall beestah the vote or votes creating such series. Tt
authority of the Board of Directors with respecetich such series shall include without limitatdrthe foregoing the right to determine and
fix:

a. the distinctive designation of such series &ediumber of shares to constitute such series;

b. the rate at which dividends on the shares df secies shall be declared and paid, or set asidgafyment, whether dividends at the
rate so determined shall be cumulative, and wheltigeshares of such series shall be entitled tgpanycipating or other dividends in addition
to the dividends at the rate so determined, asd,ibn what terms;

c. the right, if any, of the Corporation to redegimares of the particular series and, if redeemétdeprice, terms and manner of such
redemption;

d. the special and relative rights and prefereri€asy, and the amount or amounts per share, wihielshares of such series shall be
entitled to receive upon any voluntary or involugitiquidation, dissolution or winding up of therporation;

e. the terms and conditions, if any, upon whiclretaf such series shall be convertible into, @hexgeable for, shares of stock of
any other class or classes, including the prigerices or rate or rates of conversion or exchamgktiae terms of adjustment, if any;

f. the obligation, if any, of the corporation tdire or purchase shares of such series pursuansitiking fund or fund of a similar
nature or otherwise, and the terms and conditiéssich obligation;

g. voting rights, if any;
h. limitations, if any, on the issuance of additibshares of such series or any shares of any séhiers of Preferred Stock; and

i. such other preferences, powers, qualificatispgegcial or relative rights and privileges theredflfee Board of Directors may deem
advisable and are not inconsistent with law andptiogisions of these Restated Articles of Orgamirat

ARTICLE V
The restrictions, if any, imposed by these Restattidles of Organization upon the transfer of €sanf stock of any class are: None.

3



ARTICLE VI

Other lawful provisions, if any, for the conductaregulation of the business and affairs of thgomation, for its voluntary
dissolution, or for limiting, defining, or regulat the powers of the corporation, or of its direstor shareholders, or of any class of
shareholders:

1. By-Laws

The Board of Directors is authorized to make, amameepeal the byaws of the Corporation in whole or in part, excefith respect t
any provisions thereof which by law, by these Rest@rticles of Organization or by the by-laws regs action by the shareholders.

2. Place of Meetings of The Sharehold

Meetings of the shareholders may be held anywimetteei United States.

3.  Partnershig

The corporation may be a partner in any businets@ise which the Corporation would have powerdaduct by itself.

4.  Limitations on Director Liability

No director of the Corporation shall be liablehe Corporation or its shareholders for monetaryatgas for breach of fiduciary duty
as a director, except for liability (i) for any laeh of the director’s duty of loyalty to the Corgtion or its shareholders, (ii) for acts or
omissions not in good faith or which involve intental misconduct or a knowing violation of law,)iior improper distributions under
Section 6.40 of Chapter 156D of the General Lawsgla§sachusetts or (iv) for any transaction in whighdirector derived an improper
personal benefit. No amendment to or repeal ofpanyision of this paragraph, directly or by adoptaf an inconsistent provision of these
Restated Articles of Organization, shall apply tdhave any effect on any liability or alleged lidtiof any director of the corporation for or
with respect to any acts or omissions of such thremccurring prior to such amendment or repeal.

ARTICLE VII

These Restated Articles of Organization will becaffective when filed in accordance with ChapteB2581.25 of the Massachuse
General Laws.

(6) These Restated Articles of Organization codsatd all prior amendments into a single documedtaamend Articles 1l and VI.

Signed this 3rd day of June, 2005, by Shawn HtySécretary.

/sl Shawn Hoy
Shawn Hoy!




THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

William Francis Galvin
Secretary of the Commonwealth
One Ashburton Place, Boston, Massachusetts 02108-15

RESTATED ARTICLES OF ORGANIZATION
(General Laws Chapter 156D, Section 10.07, 950 AMIR35))

| hereby certify that upon examination of theseates! articles of organization, it appears thatpitewisions of the General Laws relative
thereto have been complied with, and the filingifethe amount of $ having been paid, said articles are deemed to bese filed with me

this___day of , 2005, at a.m./p.m.
Effective Date:

(must be within 90 days of date submitted)

WILLIAM FRANCIS GALVIN
Secretary Of The Commonwealth

Filing fee: Minimum filing fee $200, plus $100 penticle amended, stock increases $100 per 100}/08@s, plus $100 for each additic
100,000 shares or any fraction thereof.

TO BE FILLED IN BY CORPORATION
Contact Information
Robert V. Jahrling, Esq.
Choate, Hall & Stewart
Exchange Place, 53 State Street
Boston, MA 02109
(617) 24{-5148 (617) 24{-5148 FREE
rjahrling@choate.cor



Upon filing, a copy of this filing will be availablat www.sec.state.ma.us/cor. If the documentésted, a copy of the rejection sheet and
rejected document will be available in the rejeciadue.

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts
William Francis Galvin
Secretary of the Commonwealth
One Ashburton Place, Boston, Massachusetts 02108-15

FORM MUST BE TYPEL FORM MUST BE TYPEI

Articles of Amendment
(General Laws Chapter 156D, Section 10.06; 950 QNIR 34)

(1) Exact name of corporatioPegasystems In

(2) Registered office addres101 Main Street, Cambridge, MA 021

(number, street, city or town, state, zip code)

(3) These articles of amendment affect articlelll and IV
(specify the number(s) of articles(s) being amen(giad))

(4) Date adoptecMay 23, 201z
(month, day, year)

(5) Approved by:
(check appropriate box)

O the incorporators
O the board of directors without shareholder appraval shareholder approval was not requi
the board of directors and the shareholders imthener required by law and the articles of orgaitna

(6) State the article number and the text of therdment. Unless contained in the text of the amemdnstate the provisions for
implementing the exchange, reclassification or eflation of issued share

Avrticle Il

The total number of shares and par value, if ahgach class of stock which the corporation is artled to issue is 100,000,000 shares of
Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share (the “Com8tock”), and 1,000,000 shares of Preferred St@K)1 par value per share (the
“Preferred Stock”).

Article IV
The first sentence of subsection 1 of Article Nalive deleted and replaced with the following:
“The Corporation shall have authority to issue 000,000 shares of Common Stock.”

To change the number of shares and the par vaifiany, of any type, or to designate a class deseof stock, or change a designation of
class or series of stock, which the corporaticauithorized to issue, compete the following:

Total authorized prior to amendment:

WITHOUT PAR VALUE WITH PAR VALUE

TYPE NUMBER OF SHARES TYPE NUMBER OF SHARES PAR VALUE
Common 70,000,000 $0.01
Preferrec 1,000,00! $0.01



Total authorized after amendment:

WITHOUT PAR VALUE WITH PAR VALUE

TYPE NUMBER OF SHARES TYPE NUMBER OF SHARES PAR VALUE
Common 100,000,00 $0.01
Preferrec 1,000,00! $0.01

(7) The amendment shall be effective at the tintk@nthe date approved by the Division, unlessea Effective date not more than 90
days from the date and time of filing is specifi

* G.L. Chapter 156D eliminates the concept of palug, however a corporation may specify par vatuerticle Ill. See G.L. Chapter 156D,
Section 6.21, and the comments relative the

Signed by: Shawn Hoyt

(signature of authorized individual)

O Chairman of the board of directo
O President

Other officer,

O Courtrappointed fiduciary

on this_24hday of May, 2012

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts
William Francis Galvin
Secretary of the Commonwealth
One Ashburton Place, Boston, Massachusetts 02108-15

Articles of Amendment
(General Laws Chapter 156D, Section 10.06; 950 QNIR 34)

| hereby certify that upon examination of theséckr$ of amendment, it appears that the provisadriee General Laws relative thereto have
been complied with, and the filing fee in the antoofr30,10Chaving been paid, said articles are deemed to beee filed with me this 22
day of June, 2012at 10:10 a.mp.m. time

Effective date:
(must be within 90 days of date submitted)

WILLIAM FRANCIS GALVIN
Secretary of the Commonwealth

Filing Fee: Minimum filing fee $100 per article anted, stock increases $100 per 100,000 shares$pdsfor each additional 100,000 share:
or any fraction thereof.

TO BE FILLED IN BY CORPORATION
Contact Information:

Shawn Hoyt, Secretary

Pegasystems Inc.
101 Main Street, Cambridge, MA 02142

Telephone: 61-B66-6136

Email: Shawn.Hoyt@pega.com

Upon filing, a copy of this filing will be availablat www.sec.state.ma.us/cdf the document is rejected, a copy of the répecsheet and
rejected document will be available in the rejeciadue.




Exhibit 10.24
PEGASYSTEMS INC.

2006 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN 1

l. PURPOSE The purpose of this 2006 Employee Stock PurcRéese (the “Plan”) is to provide employees of Pegéays Inc., a
Massachusetts corporation (the “Company”), andlitssidiary corporations, who wish to become stoltdrs of the Company an
opportunity to purchase shares of the Common S®6H, par value per share, of the Company (ther&ip The Plan is intended to
qualify as an “employee stock purchase plan” withim meaning of Section 423 of the Internal Reveboée of 1986, as amended (the
“Cod¢").

2. ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES. Subject to provisions of Sections 7, 8 and 9Wwekmy individual who is in the full-time employnte(as
defined below) of the Company, or any of its sulasidcorporations (as defined in Section 424(fjhaf Code) (the “subsidiaries”) the
employees of which are designated by the Boardi@iciors of the Company (the “Boardd} eligible to participate in the Plan, is eligi
to participate in any Offering of Shares (as dafimeSection 3 below) made by the Company hereurkigi-time employment shall
include all employees whose customary employmel

(a) in excess of 20 hours per week; ¢
(b) more than five months in the relevant calendar.y

3. OFFERING DATES From time to time the Company, by action of treaili, will grant rights to purchase Shares to egg®s eligible
to participate in the Plan pursuant to one or noff@rings (each of which is an “Offeringt)n a date or series of dates (each of which
“Offering Date”) designated for this purpose by Bmard. Offerings may be consecutive or overlappamyl the terms of each Offering
need not be identical provided that the terms efRlan and the Offering together satisfy the regménts of Section 423 of the Co

4. PRICES The price per share for each grant of rightsineder shall be equal to the lesser of (a) eightg-fiercent (85%) of the fair
market value of a share of Common Stock on ther@ffeDate on which such purchase right is grantebpeightyfive percent (85%) ¢
the fair market value of a share of Common Stockherdate such purchase right is exercised, or Bigtter price as may be set by the
Board of Directors from time to tim

At its discretion, the Board of Directors may detére a higher price for a grant of rights with resjpto any Offering.

For purposes of this Plan, the term “fair markdtigameans, as of any date, the value of a share of Gon8tock determined as follov
(i) if the Common Stock is listed on any establgbktock exchange or a national market system, diroguwithout limitation the Nasdaq
National Market or the Nasdag SmallCap Market efMfasdaq Stock Market, its fair market value shalthe closing price (excluding
“after hours” trading) for a share of such stockluat day (or, if the Common Stock is not tradedtat day, on the last trading day
preceding such date) as reportedlire Wall Street Journar such other source as the Administrator deenbie| (i) if the Common
Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securifiealer but selling prices are not reported gitsrharket value shall be the mean
between the highest bid and lowest asked pricadu@ixg “after hours” trading) for a share of themimon Stock on that day (or, if there
are no quotes for that day, on the last day pregeslich date for which quotes were available)jidirf the absence of an established
market for the Common Stock, the fair market vahereof shall be determined in good faith by thaiglo

1This Plan has been restated to reflect amendmetite tPlan adopted by the Company’s Board of Damsobn February 14, 2008, January 8,
2010 and October 25, 2012.



EXERCISE OF RIGHTS AND METHOD OF PAYMEN.

(a) Rights granted under the Plan will be exercisakléoplically on specified dates as determined byBibard.

(b) The method of payment for Shares purchased agerctise of rights granted hereunder shall bautiftaegular payroll deductions or
by lump sum cash payment, or both, as determingtéBoard. No interest shall be paid upon paytetiuctions unless specifically
provided for by the Boart

(c) Any payments received by the Company from éi@pating employee and not utilized for the purehaf Shares upon exercise of a
right granted hereunder shall be promptly retutioeslich employee by the Company after terminatfgheright to which the
payment relates

TERM OF RIGHTS Rights granted on any Offering Date shall be egable upon the expiration of such period (“OffigrPeriod”) as
shall be determined by the Board when it authorieOffering, provided that such Offering Peribdlsin no event be longer than
twenty-seven (27) month:

SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLANNo more than 500,000 Shares may be sold pursoiaights granted under the Plan; provided
however, that appropriate adjustment shall be made in suahber, in the number of Shares covered by owdstgrrights granted
hereunder, in the exercise price of the rightsiartde maximum number of Shares which an employayg purchase (pursuant to
Section 8 below) to give effect to any mergers,sofidations, reorganizations, recapitalizationsglktsplits, stock dividends or other
relevant changes in the capitalization of the Camggccurring after the effective date of the Plamovided that no fractional Shares shall
be subject to a right and each right shall be aggudownward to the nearest full Share. Any agre¢memerger or consolidation will
include provisions for protection of the then eixigtrights of participating employees under thenPEither authorized and unissued
Shares or issued Shares heretofore or hereaftyuiead by the Company may be made subject togightler the Plan. If for any reason
any right under the Plan terminates in whole quarnt, Shares subject to such terminated right ngaynebe subjected to a right under the
Plan.

LIMITATIONS ON GRANTS.

(&) No employee shall be granted a right hereunderdh €mployee, immediately after the right is grdnteould own stock or rights 1
purchase stock possessing five percent (5%) or widtee total combined voting power or value ofd#isses of stock of the
Company, or of any subsidiary, computed in accardamth Sections 423(b)(3) and 424(d) of the Cq

(b) No employee shall be granted a right which permmggight to purchase shares under all employezkgiarchase plans of tl
Company and its subsidiaries to accrue at a ratehwaxceeds twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,d60such other maximum as
may be prescribed from time to time by the Coddjeffair market value of such Shares (determiti¢ldeatime such right is grante
for each calendar year in which such right is @unding at any time in accordance with the provisiohSection 423(b)(8) of the
Code.

(c) Subject to adjustment in accordance with Sacfi@above, no right granted to any participatinglayee under a single Offering shall
cover more shares than may be purchased at arissxprice (using for this purpose 85% of the fa@rket value of a Share on the
first day of the Offering) equal 1



9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14,

15.

10% of the base salary payable to the employeagltine Offering not taking into consideration afmaeges in the employee’s rate
of compensation after the first day of the Offeringsuch other percentage as determined by thedBi@an time to time prior to the
commencement of the Offering. When determiningttage salary payable to the employee during theri@ffefor any employee th
receives base salary in a currency other than hedllar, the exchange rate in effect at the ctddmisiness on the last business day
of the Offering will be used. This provision shiadl construed to meet the requirements set for8eation 423(b)(5) of the Cod

LIMIT ON PARTICIPATION . Participation in an Offering shall be limitedelgible employees who elect to participate in sQdfering

in the manner, and within the time limitation, ddished by the Board when it authorizes the offgr

CANCELLATION OF ELECTION TO PARTICIPATE An employee who has elected to participate i@&aring may, unless the

employee has waived this cancellation right attitne of such election in a manner established byRbard, cancel such election as to al
(but not part) of the rights granted under suckeffy by giving written notice of such cancellatimthe Company before the expiration
of the Offering Period. Any amounts paid by the @ype for the Shares or withheld for the purchdsghares from the employee’s
compensation through payroll deductions shall bd fmathe employee, without interest, upon suckcedation.

TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. Upon termination of employment for any reasonluding the death of the employee, before the

date on which any rights granted under the Plaxeecisable, all such rights shall immediatelyrnieiate and amounts paid by the
employee for the Shares or withheld for the purelasShares from the employee’s compensation thir@agroll deductions shall be
paid to the employee or to the emplc’'s estate, without intere:

EMPLOYEES RIGHTS AS STOCKHOLDER No participating employee shall have any riglstaatockholder in the Shares covered

by a right granted hereunder until such right hesnbexercised, full payment has been made fordhresponding Shares and a certificate
for the Shares is actually issur

RIGHTS NOT TRANSFERABLE Rights under the Plan are not assignable orfeeatsle by a participating employee and are

exercisable only by the employe

LIMITS ON SALE OF STOCK PURCHASED UNDER THE PNA The Plan is intended to provide shares of Com8togk for

investment and not for resale. The Company doeshoetever, intend to restrict or influence any emgpk in the conduct of his or her
own affairs. An employee may, therefore, sell stpakchased under the Plan at any time the empldyeeses, subject to the terms and
conditions of the Company’s Insider Trading Policyd open and closed trading windows, and complianiteany applicable federal or
state securities laws; providetiowever, that because of certain federal tax requiremesatsh employee agrees by entering the Plan,
promptly to give the Company notice of any sucltlstisposed of within two years after the dateraig or within one year of the date
of exercise of the applicable right, such noticedbforth the number of such shares disposedHtE EMPLOYEE ASSUMES THE
RISK OF ANY MARKET FLUCTUATIONS IN THE PRICE OF THESTOCK.

AMENDMENTS TO OR DISCONTINUANCE OF THE PLANThe Board may at any time terminate or amendPtha without notice

and without further action on the part of stockleotdof the Compan'provided:

(a) that no such termination or amendment shall madkeaad adversely affect the then existing rightsuay participating employee; a

3



16.

17.

18.

(b) that any such amendment whit
() increases the number of Shares subject to the(8ldiject to the provisions of Section
(i) changes the class of persons eligible to partieipatier the Plan; «

(i)  materially increases the benefits accruingésticipants under the Plan shall be subject fo@fl of the stockholders of the
Company.

EFFECTIVE DATE AND APPROVALS The Plan was adopted by the Board on March 306 20 become effective as of said date.

Companys obligation to offer, sell and deliver its Shawesler the Plan is subject to the approval of itskdtolders not later than June
2006 and of any governmental authority requiredannection with the authorized issuance or sakioh Shares and is further subject tc
the Company receiving the opinion of its counsat #il applicable securities laws have been cordpliih.

TERM OF PLAN. The Plan will continue until there are no Shaesaining to be issued under the Plan or untiRlam is terminated kt

the Board, whichever occurs fir:

ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN. The Board or any committee or persons to whaeligates its authority (the “Administrator”)
shall administer, interpret and apply all provisaf the Plan. The Administrator may waive suchvigions of the Plan as it deems
necessary to meet special circumstances not aadmr covered expressly by the Plan. Nothingainatl in this Section shall be
deemed to authorize the Administrator to alterdmimister the provisions of the Plan in a manneoirsistent with the provisions of
Section 423 of the Code. No member of the Admiatstrshall be liable for any action or determinatinade in good faith with respect
the Plan or any right granted undel

Date approved by the Board of Directors of the Canyp March 30, 2006 (as further amended on Febrlér2008, January 8, 2010 and
October 25, 2012)

Date approved by the stockholders of the Comparay B0, 2006



Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF PEGASYSTEMS INC.

Name of Subsidian State or Jurisdiction of Entity

Chordiant Software Europe Limite
Chordiant Software International B

Chordiant Software International Limitt

United Kingdom
Netherland:

United Kingdom

Pegasystems Al Switzerland
Pegasystems Bermuda Limit Bermuds
Pegasystems B Netherlands
Pegasystems Canada | Canade
Pegasystems France, S.A.R France
Pegasystems Gmh Germany
Pegasystems Investment |i Massachuset!
Pega Japan K.k Japar

Pegasystems Limite

United Kingdom

Pegasystems Mauritit Mauritius
Pegasystems Pte Limit Singapore
Pegasystems Proprietary Limit Australia
Pegasystems Rus LL Russia
PEGASYSTEMS Software (Beijing) Co., Limitt China
Pegasystems Sp. Z o Poland
Pegasystems Spain, S Spain
Pegasystems Worldwide Ir Massachuset!
Pegasystems Worldwide India Private Limi India



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement Nos. 333-09305, 333-53746, 338337, 333-104788, 333-
116660, 333-135596, 333-166287, 333-166544 andl38810 on Form S-8 of our report dated Februar2@Q@3 relating to the financial
statements of Pegasystems Inc. and the effectisefd3egasystems Inc.’s internal control over faialreporting, appearing in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Pegasystems Inc. for the gaded December 31, 2012.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 20, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

I, Alan Trefler, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Pegasystems Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or dondtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nisadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedaotas designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsbsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proms] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrathos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré's internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors fersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refjmahcial information; ani

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 20, 2013

/ s/ ALAN TREFLER
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)




Exhibit 31.2

I, Craig Dynes, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Pegasystems Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or dondtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nisadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedaotas designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsbsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proms] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrathos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré's internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors fersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refjmahcial information; ani

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 20, 2013

/ s/ CRAIG DYNES
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officel
(principal financial officer)




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Pegasystams(the Company) on Form X0for the year ended December 31, 2012 as filetd
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thelgatof (the “Report”)Alan Trefler, Chairman and Chief Executive OfficérPegasysterr
Inc., and Craig Dynes, Chief Financial Officer é8ehior Vice President of Pegasystems Inc., eadlfiegrpursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1:
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl@rkes- Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ ALAN TREFLER
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Dated: February 20, 2013

/ s/ CRAIG DYNES
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officel
(principal financial officer)

Dated: February 20, 20:



